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PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1—Financial Statements
MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
March 31,
2017
Unaudited

December 31,
2016
Unaudited

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Cash-restricted
Trade receivables (net)
Accounts receivable from related party
Other receivables
Inventory (net)
Prepaid expense and other
Total current assets
Total fixed assets (net)
Intangible assets (net)
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Deferred tax asset
Total assets

$

$

2,930
772
49,837
89
2,254
88,196
5,057
149,135
36,550
55,546
70,635
1,990
545
314,401

$

30,456
815
43,946
1,915
14,806
2,733
94,671

$

$

5,110
1,308
47,267
501
1,332
90,901
4,745
151,164
37,241
56,809
70,248
1,978
545
317,985

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Notes payable—short term
Current portion of capital lease obligations
Accounts payable
Accounts payable related parties
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Revolving term credit facilities
Notes payable (net)
Capital lease obligations
Convertible note related party (net)
Convertible note (net)
Deferred gain on sale of property
Deferred tax liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Equity
Preferred Stock—Authorized 150,000 shares, no shares issued or outstanding at March 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016
Common Stock—no par value 25,000,000 shares authorized, 16,552,186 and 16,200,294 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
Paid in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Equity attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$

$

27,408
338
45,778
4,373
16,658
2,150
96,705

35,236
49,938
5,390
6,897
14,151
991
3,427
4,566
120,596
215,267

35,562
49,986
6,004
6,862
14,098
1,058
3,242
4,906
121,718
218,423

—

—

97,247
2,522
(21,983 )
(3,929 )
73,857
25,277
99,134
314,401

$

94,324
2,918
(18,572)
(4,272)
74,398
25,164
99,562
317,985

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except for share and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
Unaudited

Net revenues
Cost of sales

$

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Research and development costs
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) income
Other income (expense)
Interest expense
Foreign currency transaction loss
Other income (expense)
Total other expense
Loss before income taxes and loss in non-marketable equity interest from
continuing operations
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations
Loss in non-marketable equity interest, net of taxes
Net loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Income from operations of discontinued operations
Income tax expense
Income on discontinued operations
Net (loss) income
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net (loss) income attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
(Loss) earnings Per Share
Basic
Loss from continuing operations attributable to shareholders of
Manitex International, Inc.
Income from discontinued operations attributable to shareholders of
Manitex International, Inc.
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Diluted
Loss from continuing operations attributable to shareholders of
Manitex International, Inc.
Earnings from discontinued operations attributable to shareholders of
Manitex International, Inc.
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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2016
Unaudited

67,852
56,059
11,793

$

85,386
70,548
14,838

1,207
12,099
13,306
(1,513 )

1,318
11,391
12,709
2,129

(1,845 )
(83 )
234
(1,694 )

(2,765)
(516)
(30)
(3,311)

(3,207 )
90
—
(3,297 )

(1,182)
(114)
(39)
(1,107)

$

(3,297 )
(114 )
(3,411 )

$

3,071
631
2,440
1,333
127
1,460

$

(0.21 )

$

(0.06)

$
$

—
(0.21 )

$
$

0.15
0.09

$

(0.21 )

$

(0.06)

$
$

—
(0.21 )

$
$

0.15
0.09

—
—
—

16,559,343
16,559,343

16,105,601
16,105,601

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
Unaudited

Net (loss) income:
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Total comprehensive (loss) income attributable to shareholders of
Manitex International, Inc.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$

(3,297 )

2016
Unaudited

$

343
343
(2,954 )
(114 )
$

(3,068 )

1,333
2,069
2,069
3,402
127

$

3,529

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
Unaudited

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in allowances for doubtful accounts
Changes in inventory reserves
Deferred income taxes
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Revaluation of contingent acquisition liability
Amortization of debt discount
Change in value of interest rate swaps
Loss in non-marketable equity interest
Share-based compensation
Adjustment to deferred gain on sale and lease back
Loss on disposal of assets
Reserves for uncertain tax provisions
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in inventory
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued expense
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities
Increase (decrease) in other long-term liabilities
Discontinued operations - cash used for operating activities
Net cash used for operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Investment in intangibles other than goodwill
Investment received form noncontrolling interest (Note 16)
Discontinued operations - cash provided by investing activities
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Payments) borrowings on revolving term credit facilities
Net borrowings on working capital facilities
New borrowings
Debt issuance costs incurred
Note payments
Shares repurchased for income tax withholding on share-based compensation
Proceeds from stock offering
Proceeds for sale and leaseback
Payments on capital lease obligations
Discontinued operations - cash provided by financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
See Note 2 for supplemental cash flow disclosures

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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$

$

2016
Unaudited

(3,297 )

$

1,333

2,639
3
(6 )
146
195
(346 )
63
(401 )
—
229
—
39
17

2,941
312
305
(16)
321
—
143
(386)
39
285
(118)
16
16

(2,765 )
3,047
(307 )
(22 )
(4,656 )
(1,937 )
557
(60 )
—
(6,862 )

(19,384)
440
793
77
90
(2,533)
349
(148)
(5,435)
(20,560)

(285 )
(39 )
—
—
(324 )

(335)
(19)
2,450
2,170
4,266

(326 )
2,812
516
(50 )
(676 )
(128 )
2,426
—
(145 )
—
4,429
(2,757 )
41
6,418
3,702

5,570
6,409
701
(394)
(7,177)
(42)

$

4,080
(238)
2,452
11,361
(4,933)
284
8,578
3,929

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
Note 1. Nature of Operations
The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company operates in three business segments: the Lifting
Equipment segment, the ASV segment and the Equipment Distribution segment.
Lifting Equipment Segment
The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company designs, manufactures and distributes a diverse
group of products that serve different functions and are used in a variety of industries. Through its Manitex, Inc. subsidiary it markets
a comprehensive line of boom trucks, truck cranes and sign cranes. Manitex’s boom trucks and crane products are primarily used for
industrial projects, energy exploration and infrastructure development, including, roads, bridges and commercial construction. Badger
Equipment Company (“Badger”) is a manufacturer of specialized rough terrain cranes and material handling products. Badger
primarily serves the needs of the construction, municipality and railroad industries.
PM Group S.p.A. (“PM”) is a leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a 50-year history of
technology and innovation, and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest subsidiary, Oil & Steel (“O&S”), is a
manufacturer of truck-mounted aerial platforms with a diverse product line and an international client base.
ManitexValla S.r.L. (“Valla”) produces a line of industrial pick and carry cranes using electric, diesel, and hybrid power options with
lifting capacity that range from 2 to 90 tons. Its cranes offer wheeled or tracked, and fixed or swing boom configurations, with special
applications designed specifically to meet the needs of its customers. Valla’s products are sold internationally through dealers and
into the rental distribution channel.
Sabre Manufacturing, LLC, which is located in Knox, Indiana, manufactures a comprehensive line of specialized mobile tanks for
liquid and solid storage and containment solutions with capacities from 8,000 to 21,000 gallons. Its mobile tanks are sold to
specialized independent tank rental companies and through the Company’s existing dealer network. The tanks are used in a variety of
end markets such as petrochemical, waste management and oil and gas drilling.
ASV Segment
The Company acquired 51% of A.S.V., Inc. from Terex Corporation (“Terex”) in 2014. Subsequent to the acquisition date ASV was
converted to an LLC and its name was changed to A.S.V., LLC (ASV). ASV is located in Grand Rapids, Minnesota manufactures a
line of high quality compact track and skid steer loaders. ASV’s products are used in the site clearing, general construction, forestry,
golf course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general construction being the largest market. The ASV products are
distributed through independent dealers and the Terex distribution channels, as well as through the Company.
Equipment Distribution Segment
The Equipment Distribution segment consists of two of the Company’s subsidiaries, Crane and Machinery, Inc. (“C&M”) and Crane
and Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”). C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and truck cranes products as well as
Manitex’s own products. C&M offers equipment repair services in the Chicago area and supplies repair parts for a wide variety of
medium to heavy duty construction equipment both domestically and internationally.
C&M Leasing rents equipment manufactured by the Company as well as a limited amount of equipment manufactured by third
parties.
Discontinued Operations
CVS Ferrari, srl (“CVS”) designed and manufactured a range of reach stackers and associated lifting equipment for the global
container handling market. CVS was sold on December 22, 2016 and is presented as a discontinued operation.
Manitex Liftking ULC (“Manitex Liftking” or “Liftking”) sold a complete line of rough terrain forklifts, a line of stand-up electric
forklifts, cushioned tired forklifts with lifting capacities from 18 thousand to 40 thousand pounds and special mission oriented
vehicles, as well as other specialized carriers, heavy material handling transporters and steel mill equipment. Liftking was sold on
September 30, 2016, and is presented as a discontinued operation.
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2. Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements, included herein, have been prepared by the Company without audit pursuant to
the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Pursuant to these rules and regulations, certain
information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been omitted. In the opinion of management, the accompanying
unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring accruals, except as otherwise
disclosed) necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position as of March 31, 2017, and results of its operations and
cash flows for the periods presented. The consolidated balances as of December 31, 2016 were derived from audited financial
statements but do not include all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards for interim financial statements and should be read
in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31,
2016. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations expected for the year.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are stated at the amounts the Company’s customers are invoiced and do not bear interest. Accounts receivable is
reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. The Company’s estimate for the allowance for
doubtful accounts related to trade receivables includes evaluation of specific accounts where the Company has information that the
customer may have an inability to meet its financial obligations. The Company had allowances for doubtful accounts of $73 and $70
at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.
Inventory Valuation
Inventory consists of stock materials and equipment stated at the lower of cost (first in, first out) or net realizable value. All equipment
classified as inventory is available for sale. The Company records excess and obsolete inventory reserves. The estimated reserve is
based upon specific identification of excess or obsolete inventories. Selling, general and administrative expenses are expensed as
incurred and are not capitalized as a component of inventory.
Accrued Warranties
Warranty costs are accrued at the time revenue is recognized. The Company’s products are typically sold with a warranty covering
defects that arise during a fixed period of time. The specific warranty offered is a function of customer expectations and competitive
forces. The Equipment Distribution segment does not accrue for warranty costs at the time of sales, as they are reimbursed by the
manufacturers for any warranty that they provide to their customers.
A liability for estimated warranty claims is accrued at the time of sale. The liability is established using historical warranty claim
experience. Historical warranty experience is, however, reviewed by management. The current provision may be adjusted to take into
account unusual or non-recurring events in the past or anticipated changes in future warranty claims. Adjustments to the initial
warranty accrual are recorded if actual claim experience indicates that adjustments are necessary. Warranty reserves are reviewed to
ensure critical assumptions are updated for known events that may impact the potential warranty liability.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue and related costs are recognized when title passes and risk of loss passes to our customers which generally occurs upon
shipment depending upon the terms of the contract. Under certain contracts with our customers title passes to the customers when the
units are completed. The units are segregated from our inventory and identified as belonging to the customer, the customer is notified
that the units are complete and awaiting pick up or delivery as specified by the customer before income is recognized. Additionally,
the customer is requested to sign an “Invoice Authorization Form” which acknowledges the contract terms and acknowledges that the
customer has economic ownership and control over the unit. It also acknowledges that we are going to invoice the unit per terms of the
contract. The Company insures any custodial risk that it may retain.
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For FOB contracts, customers may be invoiced prior to the time customers take physical possession. Revenue is recognized in such
cases only when the customer has a fixed commitment to purchase the units, the units have been completed, tested and made available
to the customer for pickup or delivery, and the customer has authorized in writing that we hold the units for pickup or delivery at a
time specified by the customer. In such cases, the units are invoiced under our customary billing terms, title to the units and risks of
ownership pass to the customer upon invoicing, the units are segregated from our inventory and identified as belonging to the
customer and we have no further obligations under the order. The Company insures any custodial risk that it may retain.
In addition, our policy requires in all instances certain minimum criteria be met in order to recognize revenue, specifically:
a)

Persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists;

b)

The price to the buyer is fixed or determinable;

c)

Collectability is reasonably assured; and

d)

We have no significant obligations for future performance.

Interest Rate Swap Contracts—The Company enters into derivative instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk related to
certain foreign term loans. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in current earnings
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which case the effective portion of the gain
or loss is recognized and is reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period
or periods during which the hedging instrument affects earnings (date of sale). The Company’s interest rate swap contracts are held by
the PM Group and are intended to manage the exposure to interest rate risk related to certain term loans that PM Group has with
certain financial institutions in Italy. These contracts have been determined not to be hedge instruments under ASC 815-10.
Litigation Claims
In determining whether liabilities should be recorded for pending litigation claims, the Company must assess the allegations and the
likelihood that it will successfully defend itself. When the Company believes it is probable that it will not prevail in a particular
matter, it will then make an estimate of the amount of liability based, in part, on the advice of legal counsel.
Income Taxes
The Company’s provision for income taxes consists of U.S. and foreign taxes in amounts necessary to align the Company’s year-todate tax provision with the effective rate that the Company expects to achieve for the full year. Each quarter the Company updates its
estimate of the annual effective tax rate and records cumulative adjustments as necessary. The effective tax rate is based upon the
Company’s anticipated earnings both in the U.S. and in foreign jurisdictions.
Comprehensive Income
Reporting “Comprehensive Income” requires reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components. Comprehensive
income includes, in addition to net earnings, other items that are reported as direct adjustments to stockholder’s equity. Currently, the
comprehensive income adjustment required for the Company consists of a foreign currency translation adjustment, which is the result
of consolidating its foreign subsidiaries.
Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period consolidated financial statements to conform to the current period
presentation.
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2. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures
Interest received and paid, income tax refunds received and income taxes paid and non-cash transactions for the periods ended March
31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Interest received in cash
Interest paid in cash
Income tax payments (refunds) in cash

—
1,987
28

Non cash transactions
Issuance of common stock in connection with Terex
note repayment

—
3,033
(1,142 )

—

150

3. Financial Instruments—Forward Currency Exchange Contracts and Interest Rate Swap Contracts
The following tables set forth the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring and
nonrecurring basis as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 by level within the fair value hierarchy. As required by ASC 820-10,
financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.
The following is summary of items that the Company measures at fair value on a recurring basis:
Fair Value at March 31, 2017
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Liabilities:
Forward currency exchange contracts
Interest rate swap contracts
PM contingent liabilities
Valla contingent consideration
Total liabilities at fair value

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

$

$

$

24
8
—
—
32

$

$

—
—
—
196
196

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

$

159
405
—
—
564

$

$

—
—
316
193
509

24
8
—
196
228

$

Fair Value at December 31, 2016
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Liabilities:
Forward currency exchange contracts
Interest rate swap contracts
PM contingent liabilities
Valla contingent consideration
Total liabilities at fair value

$

Total

Total

$

$

159
405
316
193
1,073

Fair Value Measurements
ASC 820-10 classifies the inputs used to measure fair value into the following hierarchy:
Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical,
unrestricted assets or liabilities;
Level 2 — Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are observable, either directly or indirectly, for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and
Level 3 — Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable (i.e., supported by little or no market activity).
Fair value of the forward currency contracts are determined on the last day of each reporting period using observable inputs, which are
supplied to the Company by the foreign currency trading operation of its bank and are Level 2 items.
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4. Derivatives Financial Instruments
The Company’s risk management objective is to use the most efficient and effective methods available to us to minimize, eliminate,
reduce or transfer the risks which are associated with fluctuation of exchange rates between the Euro, Chilean Peso and the U.S.
dollar.
Forward Currency Contracts
When the Company receives a significant order in a currency other than the operating unit’s functional currency, management may
evaluate different options that are available to mitigate future currency exchange risks. The decision to hedge future sales is not
automatic and is decided case by case. The Company only uses hedge instruments to hedge firm existing sales orders and not
estimated exposure, when management determines that exchange risks exceed desired risk tolerance levels. The forward currency
contracts used to hedge future sales are designated as cash flow hedges under ASC 815-10 provided certain criteria are met. For
derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is
reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the
hedged transaction affects earnings (date of sale). Gains or losses on cash flow hedges when recognized into income are included in
net revenues. Gains and losses on the derivative instruments representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded
from the assessment of effectiveness are recognized in current earnings. The Company expects minimal ineffectiveness as the
Company has hedged only firm sales orders and has not hedged estimated exposures. As of March 31, 2017 the Company had no
outstanding forward currency contracts that were in place to hedge future sales. Therefore, there are currently no unrealized pre-tax
gains or losses which will reclassified from other comprehensive income into earnings during the next 12 months.
At times , the Company enters into forward currency exchange contracts in relationship such that the exchange gains and losses on the
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the reporting units’ functional currency would be offset by the changes in
the market value of the forward currency exchange contracts it holds. The forward currency exchange contracts that the Company has
to offset existing assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the reporting units’ functional currency have been
determined not to be considered a hedge under ASC 815-10. The Company records at the balance sheet date the forward currency
exchange contracts at its market value with any associated gain or loss being recorded in current earnings. Both realized and
unrealized gains and losses related to forward currency contracts are included in current earnings and are reflected in the Statement of
Income in the other income (expense) section on the line titled foreign currency transaction gains (losses). Items denominated in a
currency other than a reporting unit functional currency include certain intercompany receivables due from the Company’s Italian
subsidiaries and accounts receivable and accounts payable of our Italian subsidiaries and their subsidiaries
PM Group has an intercompany receivable denominated in Euros from its Chilean subsidiary. At March 31, 2017, the Company had
entered into a forward currency exchange contract that matures on August 2, 2017. Under the contract the Company is obligated to
sell 1,500,000 Chilean pesos for 2,084 euros. The purpose of the forward contract is to mitigate the income effect related to this
intercompany receivable that results with a change in exchange rate between the Euro and the Chilean peso.
Interest Rate Swap Contracts
A contract was signed by PM Group, for an original notional amount of € 482 (€ 516 at March 31, 2017), maturing on October 1,
2020 with interest paid monthly. PM pays interest at a rate of 3.90% and receives from the counterparties interest at the “Euribor”
rate for the period in question if greater than 0.90%.
As of March 31, 2017, the Company had the following forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps:
Nature of Derivative

Forward currency sales
contracts
Interest rate swap contracts

Currency

Amount

Chilean peso

1,500,000

Euro

482

10

Type

Not designated as hedge
instrument
Not designated as hedge
instrument

The following table provides the location and fair value amounts of derivative instruments that are reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016:
Total derivatives NOT designated as a hedge instrument
Fair Value
March 31,
December 31,
2017
2016

Balance Sheet Location

Liabilities Derivatives
Foreign currency exchange contract
Interest rate swap contracts
Total liabilities

Accrued expense
Notes payable

$
$

24
8
32

$
$

159
405
564

The following tables provide the effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016:
Gain or (loss)
Location of gain or (loss)
recognized in
Income Statement

Derivatives Not designated as
Hedge Instrument
Forward currency contracts
Interest rate swap contracts
Forward currency contracts

Foreign currency
transaction (losses)
Interest expense
Income from operations of
discontinued operations

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

$

$

(52 ) $
321
—
269

$

(194)
386
71
263

The Counterparty to each of the currency exchange forward contracts is a major financial institution with credit ratings of investment
grade or better and no collateral is required. Management continues to monitor counterparty risk and believes the risk of incurring
losses on derivative contracts related to credit risk is unlikely.
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5. Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share
Basic net earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution of convertible debt and restricted stock units. Details of the
calculations are as follows:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Net (loss) income attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Net loss from continuing operations
Less: (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss from continuing operations
attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Income from operations of discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net (loss) income attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
(Loss) earnings per share
Basic
Loss from continuing operations attributable
to shareholders' of Manitex International, Inc.
Earnings from operations of discontinued operations
attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc., net of tax
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Diluted
Loss from continuing operations attributable
to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Income from operations of discontinued operations
attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc., net of tax
(Loss) earnings attributable to shareholders of Manitex International, Inc.
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$

(3,297 )
(114 )

$

(1,107)
127

$

(3,411 )
—
(3,411 )

$

(980)
2,440
1,460

$

(0.21 )

$

(0.06)

$
$

—
(0.21 )

$
$

0.15
0.09

$

(0.21 )

$

(0.06)

$
$

—
(0.21 )

$
$

0.15
0.09

16,559,343

16,105,601

16,559,343

16,105,601

There are 266,397 and 268,819 restricted stock units which are anti-dilutive and therefore not included in the average number of
diluted shares shown above for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
6. Equity
Stock issued to employees and Directors
The Company issued shares of common stock to employees and Directors as restricted stock units issued under the Company’s 2004
Employer Incentive Plan vested. Upon issuance entries were recorded to increase common stock and decrease paid in capital for the
amounts shown below. The following is a summary of stock issuances that occurred during the period:
Employees or
Director

Date of Issue

January 1, 2017
January 1, 2017
January 4, 2017
January 4, 2017

Directors
Employees
Directors
Employees
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Shares Issued

4,290
20,932
7,675
42,533
75,430

Value of
Shares Issued

$

$

54
266
47
258
625

Stock Repurchase
The Company purchases shares of Common Stock from certain employees at the closing price on the date of purchase. The stock was
purchased from the employees to satisfy employees’ withholding tax obligations related to stock issuances described above. The
below is summary of common stock purchased during the three months ended March 31, 2017:
Closing Price
on Date of
Purchase

Shares
Purchased

Date of Purchase

January 1, 2017
January 4, 2017

6,312
11,750
18,062

$
$

6.86
7.27

Common stock was decreased by 129 , the aggregated value of the shares reflected in the above table.
2004 Equity Incentive Plan
In 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and subsequently amended and restated the plan on September 13,
2007, May 28, 2009, June 5, 2013 and June 2, 2016. The maximum number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under
the plan is 1,329,364 shares. The total number of shares reserved for issuance however, can be adjusted to reflect certain corporate
transactions or changes in the Company’s capital structure. The Company’s employees and members of the board of directors who are
not our employees or employees of our affiliates are eligible to participate in the plan. The plan is administered by a committee of the
board comprised of members who are outside directors. The plan provides that the committee has the authority to, among other things,
select plan participants, determine the type and amount of awards, determine award terms, fix all other conditions of any awards,
interpret the plan and units, performance shares and performance units, except Directors may not be granted stock appreciation rights,
performance shares and performance units. During any calendar year, participants are limited in the number of grants they may
receive under the plan. In any year, an individual may not receive options for more than 15,000 shares, stock appreciation rights with
respect to more than 20,000 shares, more than 20,000 shares of restricted stock and/or an award for more than 10,000 performance
shares or restricted stock units or performance units. The plan requires that the exercise price for stock options and stock appreciation
rights be not less than fair market value of the Company’s common stock on date of grant.
Restricted stock units are subject to the same conditions as the restricted stock awards except the restricted stock units will not have
voting rights and the common stock will not be issued until the vesting criteria are satisfied.
The following table contains information regarding restricted stock units:
March 31,
2017

Outstanding on January 1, 2017
Units granted during the period
Vested and issued
Vested —issued and repurchased for income tax withholding
Forfeited
Outstanding on March 31, 2017

342,004
—
(57,368 )
(18,062 )
(177 )
266,397

The value of the restricted stock is being charged to compensation expense over the vesting period. Compensation expense includes
expense related to restricted stock units of $229 and $285 for the three months March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Additional
compensation expense related to restricted stock units will be $686, $564 and $215 for the remainder of 2017, 2018 and 2019,
respectively.
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7. New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Issued Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 outlines a
new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes
most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a fivestep analysis in determining when and how revenue is recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, deferral of the effective date, which amends
ASU 2014-09. As a result, the effective date is the first quarter of 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating
the impact that adoption of this guidance will have on the determination or reporting of its financial results.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” (“ASU 2015-11”). ASU 2015-11 requires
inventory be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value and options that currently exist for market value be eliminated. ASU
2015-11 defines net realizable value as estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and
interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted. ASU 2015-11 should be applied prospectively. The Company
has adopted this guidance during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this guidance did not have
a significant impact on the operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2017.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities." The amendments in ASU 2016-01, among other things, require equity investments (except
those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; requires public business entities to use the exit price notion when
measuring fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial
liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset (i.e., securities or loans and receivables); and eliminates the
requirement for public business entities to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value that is
required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year
2018. The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”) requires lessees to recognize assets and
liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Consistent
with current U.S. GAAP, the recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee
primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease. The update is effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this update on its
consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-05”). ASU 2016-05 provides
guidance clarifying that novation of a derivative contract (i.e. a change in counterparty) in a hedge accounting relationship does not, in
and of itself, require designation of that hedge accounting relationship. The Company has adopted this guidance during the quarter
ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the operating results for the three months ended
March 31, 2017.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-06”). ASU 2016-06 simplifies
the embedded derivative analysis for debt instruments containing contingent call or put options by clarifying that an exercise
contingency does not need to be evaluated to determine whether it relates to interest rates and credit risk in an embedded derivative
analysis. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company has adopted this
guidance during the quarter ended March 31, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the operating results for
the three months ended March 31, 2017.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),” (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 further clarifies principal and agent
relationships within ASU 2014-09. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early
adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard
will have on its consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Employee ShareBased Payment Accounting,” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify several aspects of accounting for share-based
payment awards. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company has
adopted the guidance for the year ended December 31, 2017. The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the operating
results for the three months ended March 31, 2017.
In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing,” (“ASU 2016-10”). The amendments in ASU 2016-10 are expected to reduce the cost and complexity of
applying the guidance on identifying promised goods or services in contracts with customers and to improve the operability and
understandability of licensing implementation guidance related to the entity's intellectual property. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the
effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The
Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and
Cash Payments,” (“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 reduces the existing diversity in practice in financial reporting by clarifying
existing principles in ASC 230, “Statement of Cash Flows,” and provides specific guidance on certain cash flow classification
issues. The effective date for ASU 2016-15 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company
is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets Other than Inventory,”
(“ASU 2016-16”). ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of current and deferred income taxes resulting from an intra-entity transfer of
any asset (excluding inventory) when the transfer occurs. This is a change from existing GAAP which prohibits recognition of current
and deferred income taxes until the asset is sold to a third party. The effective date for ASU 2016-16 will be the first quarter of fiscal
year 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business,”
(“ASU 2017-01”). ASU 2017-01 provides guidance in ascertaining whether a collection of assets and activities is considered a
business. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018, with prospective application. The Company is evaluating the
impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment,” (“ASU 2017-04”). ASU 2017-04 eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead, an entity should perform
its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity
should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, if any.
The loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Additionally, an entity should
consider income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit when measuring the
goodwill impairment. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, with early adoption permitted in 2017. The
Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
Except as noted above, the guidance issued by the FASB during the current year is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
8. Inventory
The components of inventory are as follows:
March 31,
2017

Raw materials and purchased parts, net
Work in process
Finished goods
Inventory, net

$

$

December 31,
2016

63,034 $
4,027
21,135
88,196 $

62,252
4,396
24,253
90,901

The Company has established reserves for obsolete and excess inventory of $2,926 and $2,515 as of March 31, 2017 and December
31, 2016, respectively.
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9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
March 31,
2017

Patented and unpatented technology
Amortization
Customer relationships
Amortization
Trade names and trademarks
Amortization
Non-competition agreements
Amortization
Customer backlog
Amortization
Total Intangible assets

$

$

December 31,
2016

25,545 $
(13,041)
38,582
(11,940)
18,975
(2,582)
50
(43)
371
(371)
55,546 $

Useful
lives

25,409
(12,630)
38,444
(10,851)
18,892
(2,463)
50
(42)
370
(370)
56,809

7-10 years
10-20 years
25 years-indefinite
2-5 years
<1 year

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $1,577 and $1,680 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Changes in goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2017 are as follows:
Lifting
Equipment
Segment

Balance January 1, 2017
Effect of change in exchange rates
Balance March 31, 2017

$
$

39,669
387
40,056

ASV
Segment

$
$

30,579
—
30,579

Total

$
$

70,248
387
70,635

10. Accrued Expenses
March 31,
2017

Accounts payable:
Trade
Bank overdraft
Total accounts payable
Accrued expenses:
Accrued payroll
Accrued employee benefits
Accrued bonuses
Accrued vacation expense
Accrued interest
Accrued commissions
Accrued expenses—other
Accrued warranty
Accrued taxes other than income taxes
Accrued product liability and workers compensation claims
Total accrued expenses
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$
$
$

$

December 31,
2016

43,074 $
872
43,946 $

44,308
1,470
45,778

1,761 $
835
126
1,532
1,014
381
2,804
3,225
1,599
1,529
14,806 $

1,241
1,279
741
1,344
1,831
391
2,223
3,438
1,950
2,220
16,658

11. Accrued Warranty
The liability is established using historical warranty claim experience. Historical warranty experience is, however, reviewed by
management. The current provision may be adjusted to take into account unusual or non-recurring events in the past or anticipated
changes in future warranty claims. Adjustments to the initial warranty accrual are recorded if actual claim experience indicates that
adjustments are necessary. Warranty reserves are reviewed to ensure critical assumptions are updated for known events that may
impact the potential warranty liability.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Balance January 1,
Accrual for warranties issued during the period
Warranty services provided
Changes in estimate
Foreign currency translation
Balance March 31,

$

$

3,438 $
522
(649)
(95)
9
3,225 $

3,468
866
(780 )
(59 )
35
3,530

12. Credit Facilities and Debt
U.S. Credit Facilities
At March 31, 2017, the Company and its U.S. subsidiaries have a Loan and Security Agreement, as amended, (the “Loan Agreement”)
with The Private Bank and Trust Company (“Private Bank”). The Loan Agreement provides a revolving credit facility with a maturity
date of July 20, 2019. The aggregate amount of the facility is $25,000.
The maximum borrowing available to the Company under the Loan Agreement is limited to: (1) 85% of eligible receivables; plus (2)
50% of eligible inventory valued at the lower of cost or market subject to a $17,500 limit; plus (3) 80% of eligible used equipment, as
defined, valued at the lower of cost or market subject to a $2,000 limit. At March 31, 2017, the maximum the Company could borrow
based on available collateral was capped at $23,943. At March 31, 2017, the Company had borrowed $21,277 under this facility.
Effective May 1, 2017 and June 1, 2017, the Company’s collateral is subject to a $1,500 and $5,000 reserve, respectively, until the
Fixed Charge Coverage ratio exceeds 1.10 to 1.00. The indebtedness under the Loan Agreement is collateralized by substantially all
of the Company’s assets, except for the certain assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.
The Loan Agreement provides that the Company can opt to pay interest on the revolving credit at either a base rate plus a spread, or a
LIBOR rate plus a spread. The base rate spread ranges from 0.25% to 1.00% depending on the Senior Leverage Ratio (as defined in the
Loan Agreement). The LIBOR spread ranges from 2.25% to 3.00% also depending on the Senior Leverage Ratio. At March 31, 2017,
the base rate and LIBOR spreads were 1.00% and 3.00%, respectively. Funds borrowed under the LIBOR option can be borrowed for
periods of one, two, or three months and are limited to four LIBOR contracts outstanding at any time.
The underlying reference rate for our base rated borrowings at March 31, 2017 was 4.00%. At March 31, 2017, the Company had three
outstanding advances with interest tied to LIBOR. The contracts had an underlying LIBOR rate of 0.8500%. In addition, Private Bank
assesses a 0.50% unused line fee that is payable monthly.
The Loan Agreement subjects the Company and its domestic subsidiaries to a quarterly EBITDA covenant (as defined). The quarterly
EBITDA covenant (as defined) are $(1,000) for the quarter ended at March 31, 2017, $0 for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, and
$2,000 for all quarters starting the quarter ended September 30, 2017 through the end of the agreement. Additionally, the Company
and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to a Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of 1.05 to 1.00 measured on an annual basis beginning
December 31, 2017, followed by a Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of 1.15 to 1.00 measured quarterly starting March 31, 2018 (based on
a trailing twelve month basis) through the term of the agreement. The Loan Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative
covenants, including covenants that limit or restrict the Company’s ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant
liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of assets, make investments, make acquisitions, pay dividends or make distributions, repurchase
stock, in each case subject to customary exceptions for a credit facility of this size.
The Loan Agreement has a Letter of Credit facility of $3,000, which is fully reserved against availability.
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Notes Payable—Terex- ASV Acquisition
On December 19, 2014, the Company executed a note payable to Terex Corporation for $1,594. The note matures on June 19, 2017
and has an annual interest rate of 4.5%. Interest is payable semi-annually beginning on June 19, 2015. The note was issued in
connection with acquisition of 51% interest in ASV from Terex Corporation. The note has an outstanding balance of $1,594 at March
31, 2017.
Note Payable—Bank
At March 31, 2017, the Company has a $292 note payable to a bank. The note dated January 18, 2017 had an original principal
amount of $400 and an annual interest rate of 2.75%. Under the terms of the note the company is required to make eleven monthly
payments of $37 commencing January 30, 2017. The proceeds from the note were used to pay annual premiums for certain insurance
policies carried by the Company. The holder of the note has a security interest in the insurance policies it financed and has the right
upon default to cancel these policies and receive any unearned premiums.
PM Group Short-Term Working Capital Borrowings
At March 31, 2017, PM Group had established demand credit and overdraft facilities with seven Italian banks and six banks in South
America. Under the facilities, PM Group can borrow up to approximately €23,409 ($25,043) for advances against invoices, and letter
of credit and bank overdrafts. Interest on the Italian working capital facilities is charged at the 3-month or 6-month Euribor plus 200
basis points, while interest on overdraft facilities is charged at the 3 month Euribor plus 350 basis points. Interest on the South
American facilities is charged at a flat rate of points for advances on invoices ranging from 8% - 17%.
At March 31, 2017, the Italian banks had advanced PM Group €19,603 ($20,971), at variable interest rates, which currently range
from 1.42% to 1.67%. At March 31, 2017, the South American banks had advanced PM Group €897 ($960), at variable interest rates,
which currently range from 8% to 17%. Total short-term borrowings for PM Group were €20,500 (21,931) at March 31, 2017.
PM Group Term Loans
At March 31, 2017, PM Group has a €12,057 ($12,899) term loan with two Italian banks, BPER and Unicredit. The term loan is split
into three separate notes and is secured by PM Group’s common stock. Debt issuance costs offset against these term loans totaled
€392 ($419) at March 31, 2017.
The first note has an outstanding principal balance of €3,986 ($4,264), is charged interest at the 6-month Euribor plus 236 basis points,
effective rate of 2.12% at March 31, 2017. The note is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2017 and ending December
2021. The second note has an outstanding principal balance of €4,865 ($5,205), is charged interest at the 6-month Euribor plus 286
basis points, effective rate of 2.62% at March 31, 2017. The note is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2017 and
ending December 2021. The third note has an outstanding principal balance of €3,206 ($3,430) and is non-interest bearing. The note is
payable in semi-annual installments of €353 ($378), beginning June 2016 and ending December 2017 and a final balloon payment of
€2,500 ($2,675) in December 2022.
An adjustment in the purchase accounting to value the non-interest bearing debt at its fair market value was made. At January 15,
2015 it was determined that the fair value of the debt was €1,460 or $1,561 less than the book value. This reduction is not reflected in
the above descriptions of PM debt. This discount is being amortized over the life of the debt and being charged to interest expense. As
of March 31, 2017 the remaining balance was €748 or $800 and has been offset to the debt.
PM Group is subject to certain financial covenants as defined by the debt restructuring agreement with BPER and Unicredit including
maintaining (1) Net debt to EBITDA, (2) Net debt to equity, and (3) EBITDA to net financial charges ratios. The covenants are
measured on a semi-annual basis.
At March 31, 2017 PM Group has unsecured borrowings with four Italian banks totaling €13,015 ($13,923). Interest on the unsecured
notes is charged at the 3-month Euribor plus 250 basis points, effective rate of 2.17% at March 31, 2017. Principal payments are due
on a semi-annual basis beginning June 2019 and ending December 2021. Accrued interest on these borrowings through the date of
acquisition at January 15, 2015, totaled €358 ($378) and is payable in semi-annual installments beginning June 2019 and ending
December 2019.
At March 31, 2017 Autogru PM RO, a subsidiary of PM Group, has two notes. The first note is payable in 60 monthly principal
installments of €8 ($9), plus interest at the 1-month Euribor plus 300 basis points, effective rate of 3.00% at March 31, 2017, maturing
October 2020. At March 31, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the note was €363 ($388). The second note is payable in one
instalment in June 2017 is charged interest at the 1-month Euribor plus 250 basis points, effective rate of 2.50% at March 31, 2017.
At March 31, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the note was €440 ($471).
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PM has an interest rate swap with a fair market value at March 31, 2017 of €8 or $8 which has been included in debt.
Valla Short-Term Working Capital Borrowings
At March 31, 2017, Valla had established demand credit and overdraft facilities with two Italian banks. Under the facilities, Valla can
borrow up to approximately €930 ($995) for advances against orders, invoices and bank overdrafts. Interest on the Italian working
capital facilities is charged at a flat percentage rate for advances on invoices and orders ranging from 4.50% - 4.75%. At March 31,
2017, the Italian banks had advanced Valla €401 ($429).
Valla Term Loans
At March 31, 2017, Valla has a €110 ($118) term loan with Carisbo. The note is payable in 14 quarterly principal installments of €8
($9), plus interest at the 3-month Euribor plus 470 basis points, effective rate of 4.37% at March 31, 2017, maturing on January 2021.
At March 31, 2017, the outstanding principal balance of the note was €110 ($118).
ASV Loan Facilities
On December 23, 2016, ASV completed a new unitranche credit agreement with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”), and
White Oak Global Advisors, LLC (“White Oak”) to provide a $65,000, 5-year credit facility. This new facility replaces ASV’s
previous revolving credit and term loan facilities with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Garrison Loan Agency Services LLC. The
new facility consists of a $35,000 revolving credit facility (which is subject to availability based primarily on eligible accounts
receivable and eligible inventory), a Term Loan A facility of $8,500 and a Term Loan B facility of $21,500.
Revolving Loan Facility with PNC
The $35,000 revolving loan facility includes two sub-facilities: (i) a $2,000 letter of credit sub-facility, and (ii) a $3,500 swing loan
sub-facility, each of which is fully reserved against availability under the revolving loan facility. The facility matures on December 23,
2021.
The $35,000 revolving loan facility is a secured financing facility under which borrowing availability is limited to existing collateral
as defined in the agreement. The maximum amount available is limited to (i) the sum of (a) 85% of Eligible Receivables, plus (b)
90% of Eligible Insured Foreign Receivables, plus (c) the lesser of (I) 95% of Eligible CAT Receivables, or $8,600 plus (ii) the
lesser of (A) the sum of (I) up to 65% of the value of the Eligible Inventory (other than Eligible Inventory consisting of finished goods
machines and service parts that are current), plus (II) 80% of the value of Eligible Inventory consisting of finished goods machines,
plus (III) 75% of the value of Eligible Inventory consisting of service parts that are current) or, (B) up to 90% of the appraised net
orderly liquidation value of Eligible Inventory. Inventory collateral is capped at $15,000 less outstanding letters of credit and any
reasonable reserves as established by the bank. At March 31, 2017, the maximum ASV could borrow based on available collateral was
capped at $18,058.
At March 31, 2017, ASV had drawn $13,959 under the $35,000 PNC Credit Agreement. ASV can opt to pay interest at either a
domestic rate plus a spread, or a LIBOR rate plus a spread. The initial spread for domestic and LIBOR is fixed at 1.5% and 2.5% until
delivery of certain reporting documents with respect to the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2017, respectively. At which point the
spread for domestic rate will range from 1% to 1.5% and LIBOR spread from 2% to 2.5% depending on the average undrawn
availability (as defined in the loan agreement). Funds borrowed under the LIBOR options can be borrowed for periods of one, two,
or three months. The weighted average interest rate for the period ending March 31, 2017, was 3.8%. Additionally, the bank assesses
a 0.375% unused line fee that is payable monthly.
Term Loan A with PNC
On December 23, 2016, ASV borrowed $8,500 under a term loan (“Term Loan A”) facility with PNC as the administrative agent.
At March 31, 2017, ASV had an outstanding balance of $8,500 (less $86 debt issuance cost, for net debt of $8,414). ASV can opt to
pay interest at either a domestic rate plus a spread, or a LIBOR rate plus a spread. The initial spread for domestic and LIBOR rates are
initially fixed at 2% and 3% until delivery of certain reporting documents with respect to the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2017,
respectively. At which point the spread for domestic rate will range from 1% to 1.5% and LIBOR spread from 2% to 2.5% depending
on the average undrawn availability (as defined in the loan agreement). Funds borrowed under the LIBOR options can be borrowed
for periods of one, two, or three months. The weighted average interest rate for the period ending March 31, 2017, was 4.00%.
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ASV is obligated to make quarterly principal payments of $212 commencing on March 31, 2017. Any unpaid principal is due on
maturity, which is December 23, 2021. Interest is payable monthly.
Term Loan B with White Oak
On December 23, 2016, ASV borrowed $21,500 under term loan (“Term Loan B”) facility with White Oak as the administrative
agent.
At March 31, 2017, ASV had an outstanding balance of $20,963 (less $618 debt issuance cost, for net debt of $20,344). The interest
rate is fixed at a LIBOR rate plus 10% until delivery of the same reporting documents referenced above. After delivery of the
reporting documents, ASV will pay interest at the LIBOR rate plus a spread of either 9% or 10% depending on the leverage ratio,
provided that at no time will the LIBOR rate be less than 1%. The interest rate for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was 11%.
ASV is obligated to make quarterly principal payments of $538 commencing on March 31, 2017. Any unpaid principal is due on
maturity, which is December 23, 2021. Interest is payable monthly.
ASV Covenants
ASV indebtedness is collateralized by substantially all of ASV’s assets and the respective equity interests of ASV’s members. The
facilities contain customary limitations including, but not limited to, limitations on additional indebtedness, acquisitions, and payment
of dividends. ASV is also required to comply with certain financial covenants as defined in the Credit Agreements. The revolving
credit facility and the term loans require ASV to maintain a Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of not less than 1.20 to 1.0.
Additionally, the term loans require ASV not exceed a Leverage Ratio of 5.00 to 1.00 which shall step down to 2.85 to 1.00 on March
31, 2021 and also limits capital expenditures to $1,300 in any fiscal year.
Capital leases
Georgetown facility
The Company leases it Georgetown facility under a capital lease that expires on April 30, 2028. The monthly rent is currently $64 and
is increased by 3% annually on September 1 during the term of the lease. At March 31, 2017, the outstanding capital lease obligation
is $5,284.
Winona facility
The Company has a lease which expired on February 1, 2017, that includes a one year extension through February 1, 2018, at the
option of the Company. The Company exercised its option to extend the lease. The lease provides for monthly lease payments of $2
for its Winona, Minnesota facility. The Company has an option to purchase the facility for $500 by giving notice to the landlord of its
intent to purchase the facility. The Landlord must receive such notice at least three months prior to end of the lease term. At March 31,
2017, the Company has outstanding capital lease obligation of $500 which is the amount of the purchase option.
Equipment
The Company has entered into a lease agreement with a bank pursuant to which the Company is permitted to borrow 100% of the cost
of new equipment with 60 months repayment periods, respectively. At the conclusion of the lease period, for each piece of equipment
the Company is required to purchase that piece of leased equipment for one dollar.
The equipment, which is acquired in ordinary course of the Company’s business, is available for sale and rental prior to sale.
Under the lease agreement the Company can elect to exercise an early buyout option at any time, and pay the bank the present value of
the remaining rental payments discounted by a specified Index Rate established at the time of leasing. The early buyout option results
in a prepayment penalty which progressively decreases during the term of the lease. Alternatively, the Company under the like-kind
provisions in the agreement can elect to replace or substitute different equipment in place of equipment subject to the early buyout
without incurring a penalty.
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The following is a summary of amounts financed under equipment capital lease agreements:

Amount
Borrowed

New equipment

$

829

Repayment
Period

Amount of
Monthly Payment

60 $

Balance as of
March 31,
2017

16 $

400

Note 13. Convertible Notes
Related Party
On December 19, 2014, the Company issued a subordinated convertible debenture with a $7,500 face amount payable to Terex, a
related party. The convertible debenture, is subordinated, carries a 5% per annum coupon, and is convertible into Company common
stock at a conversion price of $13.65 per share or a total of 549,451 shares, subject to customary adjustment provisions. The debenture
has a December 19, 2020 maturity date.
From and after the third anniversary of the original issuance date, the Company may redeem the convertible debenture in full (but not
in part) at any time that the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock equals at least 130% of the Conversion Price (as
defined in the debenture) for at least 20 of any 30 consecutive trading days. Following an election by the holder to convert the
debenture into common stock of the Company in accordance with the terms of the debenture, the Company has the discretion to
deliver to the holder either (i) shares of common stock, (ii) a cash payment, or (iii) a combination of cash and stock.
In accounting for the issuance of the note, the Company separated the note into liability and equity components. The carrying amount
of the liability component was calculated by measuring the estimated fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated
convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the conversion option was determined by deducting the
fair value of the liability component from the face value of the Note as a whole. The excess of the principal amount of the liability
component over its carrying amount (“debt discount”) is amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective
interest method with an effective interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it
continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
On December 19, 2014, the components of the note were as follows:
Liability component
Equity component (a component of paid in capital)

$
$

6,607
893
7,500

Additionally in connection with the transaction a $321 deferred tax liability was established and was recorded as a deduction to paid in
capital. The deferred tax liability was recognized as the excess of the principal amount being amortized and charged to interest
expenses that is not tax deductible.
As of March 31, 2017, the note had a remaining principal balance of $6,897 and an unamortized discount of $603. The difference
between current unamortized discount and the $893 initially recorded represents $290 of amortization of excess discount.
Perella Notes
On January 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Perella Note Purchase Agreement”) with MI Convert
Holdings LLC (which is owned by investment funds constituting part of the Perella Weinberg Partners Asset Based Value Strategy)
and Invemed Associates LLC (together, the “Investors”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue $15,000 in aggregate
principal amount of convertible notes due January 7, 2021 (the “Perella Notes”) to the Investors. The Notes are subordinated, carry a
6.50% per annum coupon, and are convertible, at the holder’s option, into shares of Company common stock, based on an initial
conversion price of $15.00 per share, subject to customary adjustments. Following an election by the holder to convert the debenture
into common stock of the Company in accordance with the terms of the debenture, the Company has the discretion to deliver to the
holder either (i) shares of common stock, (ii) a cash payment, or (iii) a combination of cash and stock. Upon the occurrence of certain
fundamental corporate changes, the Perella Notes are redeemable at the option of the holders of the Perella Notes. The Perella Notes
are not redeemable at the Company’s option prior to the maturity date, and the payment of principal is subject to acceleration upon an
event of default. The issuance of the Perella Notes by the Company was made in reliance upon the exemptions from registration
provided by Rule 506 and Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933.
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In connection with the issuance of the Perella Notes, on January 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement
with the Investors (the “Registration Rights Agreement”). Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company has agreed to
register the resale of the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Perella Notes. The Company filed a Registration
Statement on Form S-3 to register the shares with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which was declared effective on
February 23, 2015.
In accounting for the issuance of the note, the Company separated the note into liability and equity components. The carrying amount
of the liability component was calculated by measuring the estimated fair value of a similar liability that does not have an associated
convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the conversion option was determined by deducting the
fair value of the liability component from the face value of the Note as a whole. The excess of the principal amount of the liability
component over its carrying amount (“debt discount”) is amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective
interest method with an effective interest rate of 7.5 percent per annum. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it
continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
On January 7, 2015, the components of the note were as follows:
Liability component
Equity component (a component of paid in capital)

$
$

14,286
714
15,000

Additionally in connection with the transaction a $257 deferred tax liability was established and was recorded as a deduction to paid in
capital. The deferred tax liability was recognized as the excess of the principal amount being amortized and charged to interest
expenses is not tax deductible.
As of March 31, 2017, the note had remaining principal balance of $14,518 (less debt issuance costs of $367 for a net debt of $14,151)
and an unamortized discount of $482. The difference between current unamortized discount and the $714 initially recorded represents
$232 of amortization of excess discount.
Note 14. Legal Proceedings and Other Contingencies
The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, including product liability, employment related issues, and workers’
compensation matters which have arisen in the normal course of operations. The Company has product liability insurance with selfinsurance retention that range from $50 to $500. ASV product liability cases that existed on date of acquisition have a $4,000 selfretention limit.
The Company has been named as a defendant in several multi-defendant asbestos related product liability lawsuits. In certain
instances, the Company is indemnified by a former owner of the product line in question. In the remaining cases the plaintiff has, to
date, not been able to establish any exposure by the plaintiff to the Company’s products. The Company is uninsured with respect to
these claims but believes that it will not incur any material liability with respect to these claims.
When it is probable that a loss has been incurred and possible to make a reasonable estimate of the Company’s liability with respect to
such matters, a provision is recorded for the amount of such estimate or the minimum amount of a range of estimates when it is not
possible to estimate the amount within the range that is most likely to occur. The Company established reserves for several ASV and
PM lawsuits in conjunction with the accounting for these two acquisitions.
Additionally beginning on December 31, 2011, the Company’s workmen’s compensation insurance policy has per claim deductible of
$250 and aggregates of $1,000, $1,150, $1,325, $1,875 $1,575 and $1,575 for 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 policy years,
respectively. The Company is fully insured for any amount on any individual claim that exceeds the deductible and for any additional
amounts of all claims once the aggregate is reached. The Company currently has several workmen compensation claims related to
injuries that occurred after December 31, 2011 and therefore are subject to a deductible. The Company does not believe that the
contingencies associated with these worker compensation claims in aggregate will have a material adverse effect on the Company
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On May 5, 2011, Company entered into two separate settlement agreements with two plaintiffs. As of March 31, 2017, the Company
has a remaining obligation under the agreements to pay the plaintiffs an aggregate of $1,425 without interest in 15 annual installments
of $95 on or before May 22 of each year. On, February 3, 2016, the Company entered into another legal settlement with a single
plaintiff for €640 ($729). The liability had been fully accrued and resulted in no gain or loss. The Company has paid €500 ($535). As
of March 31, 2017 the Company has a remaining obligation under the agreement to pay the plaintiff €140 ($150) without interest
in monthly installments of €20 ($21). The Company has recorded a liability for the net present value of the liability. The difference
between the net present value and the total payment will be charged to interest expense over payment period.
It is reasonably possible that the “Estimated Reserve for Product Liability Claims” may change within the next 12 months. A change
in estimate could occur if a case is settled for more or less than anticipated, or if additional information becomes known to the
Company.
15. Business Segments
The Company is a leading provider of engineered specialty lifting and loading products. The Company operates in three business
segments: Lifting Equipment, ASV and Equipment Distribution.
Lifting Equipment Segment
The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company designs, manufactures and distributes a diverse
group of products that serve different functions and are used in a variety of industries. Manitex and PM are the Lifting Equipment
segment’s two largest operations. Manitex markets a comprehensive line of boom trucks, truck cranes and sign cranes. PM is a
leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a 50-year history of technology and innovation,
and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest subsidiary, Oil & Steel (“O&S”), is a manufacturer of truck-mounted
aerial platforms with a diverse product line and an international client base.
The segment also sells specialized rough terrain cranes and material handling products through its Badger subsidiary, a comprehensive
line of specialized mobile tanks for liquid and solid storage and containment solutions with capacities from 8,000 to 21,000 through its
Sabre subsidiary and a full range of pick and carry cranes from 2 to 90 tons, using electric, diesel, and hybrid power options through its
Valla subsidiary.
Boom trucks and knuckle boom cranes are primarily used for industrial projects, power distribution, energy exploration and ground
extraction, and infrastructure development, including, roads, bridges and commercial and residential construction. Badger primarily
serves the needs of the construction, municipality, railroad and oil refining industries. Sabre tanks are used in a variety of end markets
such as petrochemical, waste management and oil and gas drilling. Valla pick and carry cranes are primarily used in industrial
applications.
ASV Segment
A.S.V., LLC (“ASV”) manufactures a line of high quality compact rubber tracked and skid steer loaders. The ASV products are
distributed through independent dealers, Terex Corporation (“Terex”) distribution channels as well as through the Company. This
independent dealer network has over 150 locations. The products are used in the site clearing, general construction, forestry, golf
course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general construction being the largest market.
Equipment Distribution Segment
The Equipment Distribution segment consists of two of the Company’s subsidiaries, Crane and Machinery, Inc. (“C&M”) and Crane
and Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”). C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and truck cranes products as well as
Manitex’s own products. C&M offers equipment repair services in the Chicago area and supplies repair parts for a wide variety of
medium to heavy duty construction equipment both domestically and internationally.
C&M Leasing rents equipment manufactured by the Company as well as a limited amount of equipment manufactured by third
parties. C&M Leasing has recently expanded its rental fleet. C&M rents equipment to third parties under short-term operating lease.
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The following is financial information for our three operating segments, i.e., Lifting Equipment, Equipment Distribution and ASV:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Net revenues
Lifting Equipment
Equipment Distribution
ASV
Inter-segment sales
Total
Operating (loss) income from continuing operations
Lifting Equipment
Equipment Distribution
ASV
Corporate expenses
Change in inter-segment profit in inventory elimination
Total operating (loss) income

$

$
$

$

37,468 $
3,150
28,010
(776)
67,852 $

52,096
5,551
28,468
(729 )
85,386

(395) $
(442)
1,148
(1,844)
20
(1,513) $

3,000
154
1,027
(2,256 )
204
2,129

Equipment segment operating earnings includes amortization of $904 and $1,006 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. The Equipment Distribution segment operating earnings includes amortization of $36 and $37 for the three months
ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The ASV segment operating earnings includes amortization of $637 and $637 for the
three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
March 31,
2017

Total Assets
Lifting Equipment
Equipment Distribution
ASV
Corporate
Total

$

$

December 31,
2016

190,820 $
7,387
115,490
704
314,401 $

188,791
8,742
119,732
720
317,985

16. Transactions between the Company and Related Parties
In the course of conducting its business, the Company has entered into certain related party transactions.
On December 16, 2014, Manitex International, Inc. (the “Company”), BGI USA Inc. (“BGI”), Movedesign SRL and R & S Advisory
S.r.l., entered into an operating agreement (the “Operating Agreement”) for Lift Ventures LLC (“Lift Ventures”), a joint venture
entity. The purposes for which Lift Ventures is organized are the manufacturing and selling of certain products and components,
including the Schaeff line of electric forklifts and certain LiftKing products. Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, the Company was
granted a 25% equity stake in the Lift Ventures in exchange for the contribution of certain inventory and a license of certain
intellectual property related to the Company’s products.
As a result of the sale, in the third quarter 2016, of the Company's Liftking subsidiary, Lift Ventures LLC will no longer have the right
to sell Schaeff and Liftking products in the future. Additionally, as a result of certain financial difficulties experienced by the partner,
who was to contribute design services, it will not be able to provide such services. As a result of these events, the Company had
determined that its investment in the Lift Ventures has become impaired and wrote off its entire investment in Lift Ventures LLC in
third quarter of 2016.
The Company, through its subsidiaries, purchases and sells parts to BGI USA, Inc. (“BGI”) including its subsidiary SL Industries, Ltd
(“SL”). BGI is a distributor of assembly parts used to manufacture various lifting equipment. SL Industries, Ltd is a Bulgarian
subsidiary of BGI that manufactures fabricated and welded components used to manufacture various lifting equipment. The
Company’s former President of Manufacturing Operations is the majority owner of BGI.
The Company through its Manitex Liftking subsidiary provided parts and services to LiftMaster, Ltd (“LiftMaster”) or purchased parts
or services from LiftMaster. LiftMaster is a rental company that rents and services rough terrain forklifts. LiftMaster is owned by an
individual who was a Vice President of Manitex Liftking ULC during the period that the Company owned this subsidiary and a
relative of his.
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As of March 31, 2017 the Company had an accounts receivable of $28 and $19 from BGI and SL and accounts payable of $7, $413,
$306 and $63 to BGI, Lift Ventures, SL and Terex respectively. As of December 31, 2016 the Company had an accounts receivable
of $47 and $22 from SL and Lift Ventures, respectively and accounts payable of $471, $749, $7 and $940 to SL, Lift Ventures, BGI
and Terex, respectively.
The following is a summary of the amounts attributable to certain related party transactions as described in the footnotes to the table,
for the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2017

Rent paid
Sales to:
Purchases from:

Bridgeview Facility (1)
SL Industries, Ltd.

$
$

65
—

$
$

65
32

Lift Ventures
SL Industries, Ltd.
BGI
LiftMaster

$

618
69
191
—
878

$

454
917
—
1
1,372

Total Purchases
1.

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2016

$

$

The Company leases its 40,000 sq. ft. Bridgeview facility from an entity controlled by Mr. David Langevin, the Company’s
Chairman and CEO. Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the Company makes monthly lease payments of $22. The Company is
also responsible for all the associated operations expenses, including insurance, property taxes, and repairs. The lease will expire
on June 30, 2020 and has a provision for six one year extension periods. The lease contains a rental escalation clause under
which annual rent is increased during the initial lease term by the lesser of the increase in the Consumer Price Increase or 2.0%.
Rent for any extension period shall however, be the then-market rate for similar industrial buildings within the market area. The
Company has the option, to purchase the building by giving the Landlord written notice at any time prior to the date that is 180
days prior to the expiration of the lease or any extension period. The Landlord can require the Company to purchase the building
if a change of Control Event, as defined in the agreement occurs by giving written notice to the Company at any time prior to
the date that is 180 days prior to the expiration of the lease or any extension period. The purchase price regardless whether the
purchase is initiated by the Company or the landlord will be the Fair Market Value as of the closing date of said sale.

Transactions with Terex
At March 31, 2017, ASV has accounts receivable due from Terex for $89 which is shown on the balance sheet on the line titled
“accounts receivable from related party” and accounts payable of $1,173 on the line titled “accounts payable related parties”. At
December 31, 2016, accounts receivable due from Terex was $501 and accounts payable owed to Terex was $2,275.
The Company has the following notes payable to Terex:
March 31,
2017

Note payable related to ASV acquisition
Convertible note, (net)

$
$

1,594 $
6,897 $

December 31,
2016

1,594
6,862

See Note 12 and Note 13 for additional details regarding the above debt obligations.
The following is a summary of the amounts attributable to certain Terex transactions as described in the footnotes to the table, for the
periods indicated:
Three Months
Ended
March 31, 2017

Sales to Terex
Purchases from Terex

$
$

131 $
2,132 $

Three Months
Ended
March 31, 2016

867
2,092

In addition to the above referenced purchases, ASV expensed $598 and $764 in connection with the Distribution and Cross Marketing
Agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively and $51 and $51 in connection with the Service
Agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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On March 4, 2016, CVS and Terex Operations Italy S.R.L. (“TOI”) entered into an agreement whereby TOI acquired certain
inventories and intellectual property related to CVS’ terminal tractor line. The transaction totaled €2,839 ($3,119) inclusive of VAT
taxes and resulted in a gain of €1,987 ($2,212). This gain was included in other income on the Consolidated Statement of Operations
when the March 31, 2016 10-Q was filed. It has subsequently been reclassed to discontinued operations.
On March 11, 2016, Terex made an additional $2,450 equity contribution to ASV.
17. Income Taxes
For the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $90, which included a discrete income
tax provision of $97. The calculation of the overall income tax provision primarily consists of a foreign tax benefit and an income tax
provision resulting from state and local taxes, and an increase in deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite-lived intangible assets. For
the three months ended March 31, 2016, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $517 which consisted primarily of
anticipated federal, state and local, and foreign taxes.
The effective tax rate for three months ended March 31, 2017 was an income tax benefit of 2.8% compared to an income tax provision
of 27.4% in the comparable prior period. The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2017 differs from the U.S.
statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the mix of domestic and foreign earnings, and an income tax provision resulting from the
increase in deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite-lived intangible assets.
The Company’s total unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2017 and 2016 were approximately $983 and $936, which, if
recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. Included in the unrecognized tax benefits is a liability for the PM Group’s
potential IRES and IRAP audit adjustments for the tax years 2009 – 2013. Depending upon the final resolution of the PM Group’s
audit, the liability could be higher or lower than the amount recorded at March 31, 2017.
Note 18. Discontinued Operations
On September 30, 2016, the Company completed the sale of Manitex Liftking, ULC and on December 22, 2016, Manitex
International, Inc. (the “Company”) completed the sale CVS Ferrari srl (“CVS”).
As disclosed in Note 22, in March 2016 10-Q, the Company recognized a gain of $2,212 from the sale of inventory and intellectual
property related to CVS’s terminal tractor line which was included in other income. In the quarter ended December 31, 2016, this
amount was considered a component of the loss on sale and, therefore, was reclassified out of other income.
The following is the detail of major line items that constitute the income from discontinued operations:
For the Three
Months Ended
March 31,
2016

Net revenues
Cost of sales
Research and development costs
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest expense
Other income
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax related to discontinued operations
Net income on discontinued operations
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$

$

16,975
13,368
171
2,208
(348 )
2,191
3,071
631
2,440

Note 19. Strategic Alternatives Under Consideration for ASV
During the first quarter of 2017, and as previously disclosed, management has continued to explore alternative strategic options related
to the Company’s investment in ASV. These options include, but are not limited to, an initial public offering or the private sale of the
interests in ASV, with a potential partial retainage of interests under either option. As part of this initial exploration of options, ASV
filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the SEC during the first quarter of 2017. As of May 4, 2017, the Board of Directors
has not approved any of the alternative strategic options and continues its review of strategic alternatives. Should management
determine that none of the strategic alternative options are desirable, then the Company may decide not to proceed with any
transaction, or the Company may reconsider its strategic options at a future date, and retain its current interests in ASV.
Item 2: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements and are intended to be “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements
relate to, among other things, the Company’s expectations, beliefs, intentions, future strategies, future events or future financial
performance, and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation: (1) projections of revenue,
earnings, capital structure and other financial items, (2) statements of our plans and objectives, (3) statements regarding the
capabilities and capacities of our business operations, (4) statements of expected future economic conditions and the effect on us and
on our customers, (5) expected benefits of our cost reduction measures, and (6) assumptions underlying statements regarding us or our
business. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “expects,”
“plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other
comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. These statements are only predictions. Our actual
results may differ materially from information contained in these forward looking-statements for many reasons, including, without
limitation, those described below and in our 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, in the
section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors”:
(1)

a future substantial deterioration in economic conditions, especially in the United States and Europe;

(2)

government spending, fluctuations in the construction industry, and capital expenditures in the oil and gas industry;

(3)

our level of indebtedness and our ability to meet financial covenants required by our debt agreements;

(4)

our ability to negotiate extensions of our credit agreements and to obtain additional debt or equity financing when needed;

(5)

the cyclical nature of the markets we operate in;

(6)

increase in interest rates;

(7)

our increasingly international operations expose us to additional risks and challenges associated with conducting business
internationally;

(8)

difficulties in implementing new systems, integrating acquired businesses, managing anticipated growth, and responding to
technological change;

(9)

our customers’ diminished liquidity and credit availability;

(10) the performance of our competitors;
(11) shortages in supplies and raw materials or the increase in costs of materials;
(12) product liability claims, intellectual property claims, and other liabilities;
(13) the volatility of our stock price;
(14) future sales of our common stock;
(15) the willingness of our stockholders and directors to approve mergers, acquisitions, and other business transactions;
(16) currency transaction (foreign exchange) risks and the risk related to forward currency contracts;
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(17) certain provisions of the Michigan Business Corporation Act and the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, as amended,
Amended and Restated Bylaws, and the Company’s Preferred Stock Purchase Rights may discourage or prevent a change in
control of the Company;
(18) a substantial portion of our revenues are attributed to limited number of customers which may decrease or cease purchasing any
time;
(19) a disruption or breach in our information technology systems;
(20) our reliance on the management and leadership skills of our senior executives;
(21) the cost of compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; and
(22) Impairment in the carrying value of goodwill could negatively affect our operating results; and
(23) other factors.
The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, are not the only risks facing our
Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results. If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our
underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from what we projected. We do not undertake, and
expressly disclaim, any obligation to update this forward-looking information, except as required under applicable law. The following
discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto of the Company
appearing elsewhere within this Form 10-Q.
OVERVIEW
The Company is a leading provider of engineered lifting solutions. The Company operates in three business segments: the Lifting
Equipment segment, the ASV segment and the Equipment Distribution segment.
Lifting Equipment Segment
Through its Lifting Equipment Segment, the Company designs, manufactures and distributes a diverse group of products that serve
multiple functions and are used in a variety of industries. Through its Manitex, Inc. subsidiary it markets a comprehensive line of
boom trucks, truck cranes and sign cranes. Manitex’s boom trucks and crane products are primarily used for industrial projects, energy
exploration and infrastructure development, including, roads, bridges and commercial construction.
PM Group S.p.A. (“PM”) is a leading Italian manufacturer of truck mounted hydraulic knuckle boom cranes with a 50-year history of
technology and innovation, and a product range spanning more than 50 models. Its largest subsidiary, Oil & Steel (“O&S”), is a
manufacturer of truck-mounted aerial platforms with a diverse product line and an international client base.
Badger Equipment Company (“Badger”) is a manufacturer of specialized rough terrain cranes and material handling products. Badger
primarily serves the needs of the construction, municipality, and railroad industries.
Manitex Sabre, Inc. (“Sabre”) manufactures a comprehensive line of specialized mobile tanks for liquid and solid storage and
containment solutions with capacities from 8,000 to 21,000 gallons. Its mobile tanks are sold to specialized independent tank rental
companies and other direct customers. The tanks are used in a variety of end markets such as petrochemical, waste management and
oil and gas drilling.
Valla SpA (“Valla”) division offers a full range of precision pick and carry cranes.
In September 2016 and December 2016, the Company completed the sale of its Liftking and CVS subsidiaries, respectively. For
financial statement presentation Liftking and CVS are presented as discontinued operations. See Note 18.
ASV Segment
A.S.V., LLC (“ASV”) manufactures a line of high quality compact rubber tracked and skid steer loaders. The ASV products are
distributed through both its own distribution network and through Terex Corporation’s (“Terex”) distribution channels as well as
through the Company. ASV’s independent dealer network now has over 150 locations. The products are used in the site clearing,
general construction, forestry, golf course maintenance and landscaping industries, with general construction being the largest market.
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Equipment Distribution Segment
The Equipment Distribution segment located in Bridgeview, Illinois, comprises the operations of Crane & Machinery, Inc. (“C&M”)
and Crane & Machinery Leasing, Inc. (“C&M Leasing”). The segment markets products used primarily for infrastructure
development and commercial construction applications that include road and bridge construction, general contracting, roofing, scrap
handling and sign construction and maintenance. C&M is a distributor of Terex rough terrain and truck cranes products and supplies
repair parts for a wide variety of medium to heavy duty construction equipment and sells domestically and internationally,
predominately to end users, including the rental market. The segment also sells Manitex and Valla product, provides crane equipment
repair services in the Chicago area and through C&M Leasing rents lifting equipment primarily in the Chicago area.
Discontinued Operations
CVS Ferrari srl (“CVS”) designed and manufactured a range of reach stackers and associated lifting equipment for the global
container handling market. CVS was sold on December 22, 2016, and is presented as a discontinued operation.
Manitex Liftking ULC (“Manitex Liftking” or “Liftking”) sold a complete line of rough terrain forklifts, a line of stand-up electric
forklifts, cushioned tiered forklifts with lifting capacities from 18 thousand to 40 thousand pounds and special mission oriented
vehicles, as well as other specialized carriers, heavy material handling transporters and steel mill equipment. Liftking was sold on
September 30, 2016, and is presented as a discontinued operation.
Economic Conditions
In 2014, the Company saw a decline in orders for cranes with higher lifting capacities that serve niche markets, including the North
American energy sector slowdown from prior years, largely as a result of the fall in oil prices. In 2015, the Company aggressively
pursued other markets for its boom trucks including the tree industry, utility industry, and the general construction markets. This
focus offset and mitigated the impact of the energy market decline. While oil prices continued to decline and the U.S. oil rig count
dropped from 1,600 in January 2015 to just over 500 at end of the year we noted that the energy companies began selling excess
equipment into our other markets. This combined impact lower energy market sales combined with the selling off of excess equipment
resulted in a significant decrease in boom truck revenues during the year.
In 2016, we noted that this selloff of excess equipment continued through much of the year. This selloff dampened demand for new
equipment in both the energy market and the other markets we serve with our boom trucks. We did note that oil prices did begin to
increase and by the beginning of June were approaching $50 per barrel. Additionally, the oil rig count began to increase again and by
year end totaled 525 oil rigs. Late in the year, orders received began to increase and included orders for a number of cranes in a
multitude of markets that the Company serves. We are hopeful that this trend will gain momentum in 2017 as we continue to focus
our efforts into the tree, utility, general construction, energy and other industries.
The market for PM knuckle boom cranes, and ASV compact track loaders and skid steer loaders, have not been significantly affected
by decrease in oil prices. The markets for these products have been more stable. The North American market for knuckle boom
cranes is growing. PM currently has a small share of the market for knuckle boom cranes in North America. The Company has started
to manufacture knuckle boom cranes on a limited basis in the United States and is marketing them through the Company’s current
distribution channels. The Company currently has a strong presence in North America for its boom trucks. The Company believes that
it can significantly increase the Company’s share for knuckle boom cranes in North American. The Company believes this is an
immediate opportunity that will continue to grow over time.
At the end of the quarter, the Company backlog was $60 million, including orders from ASV and PM that now comprise 38% of the
total backlog at March 31, 2017.
Factors Affecting Revenues and Gross Profit
The Company derives most of its revenue from purchase orders from dealers and distributors. The demand for the Company’s
products depends upon the general economic conditions of the markets in which the Company competes. The Company’s sales
depend in part upon its customers’ replacement or repair cycles. Adverse economic conditions, including a decrease in commodity
prices, may cause customers to forego or postpone new purchases in favor of repairing existing machinery.
Gross profit varies from period to period. Factors that affect gross profit include product mix, production levels and cost of raw
materials. Margins tend to increase when production is skewed towards larger capacity cranes.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2017 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2016
Net loss from continuing operations for the three month periods ended March 31, 2017 and 2016
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 the Company had a net loss from continuing operations of $3.3 million and
$1.1 million, respectively.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017, the net loss from continuing operations of $3.3 million consisted of revenue of $67.9
million, cost of sales of $56.1 million, research and development costs of $1.2 million, SG&A expenses of $12.1 million, interest
expense of $1.8 million, foreign currency loss of $0.1 million, other income of $0.2 million and income tax expense of $0.1 million.
For the three months ended March 31, 2016, the net loss from continuing operations of $1.1 million consisted of revenue of $85.4
million, cost of sales of $70.5 million, research and development costs of $1.3 million, SG&A expenses of $11.4 million, interest
expense of $2.8 million, foreign currency transaction loss of $0.5 million, and income tax benefit of $0.1 million.
Net revenues and gross profit —For the three months ended March 31, 2017, net revenues and gross profit were $67.9 million
and $11.8 million, respectively. Gross profit as a percent of revenues was 17.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017. For the
three months ended March 31, 2016, net revenues and gross profit were $85.4 million and $14.9 million, respectively. Gross profit as
a percent of revenues was 17.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Net revenues decreased $17.5 million or 20.5% to $67.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $85.4 million for the
comparable period in 2016. Revenues for the Lifting Equipment, ASV and Equipment Distribution segments decreased by $14.6
million, $0.5 million and $2.4 million or by 28.1%, 16.1% and 43.3%, respectively.
All the product lines within the Lifting Equipment segment experienced quarter over quarter revenues declines. The decline is
primarily a result of the low backlog levels that the Company had at the beginning of the year. Orders increased for almost all product
lines, but were exceptionally pronounced for the Manitex straight mast cranes. These orders significantly increased backlog, but due
to the timing of the orders, production was not able to convert these orders into revenues due in part to the availability of chassis units
to mount the cranes.
ASV revenues decline is attributable to a $2.4 million reduction in sales of undercarriages and parts to Caterpillar. The decrease in
sales to Caterpillar is due to lower production volumes of multi-terrain track loaders that use our undercarriage. These decreases were
offset by increase of $1.9 million in machine sales.
The Equipment Distribution segment had significant sales in Q4 2016 as the Company sought to liquidate used equipment inventory
and focus on cash generation and debt reduction. The reduction in sales in Q1 2017 is primarily a result of lower available inventory
levels and timing of sales.
Our gross profit percent remained the same at 17.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Research and development —Research and development was $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to
$1.3 million for the same period in 2016. Research and development expenditures were relatively consistent with the prior period. The
Company’s research and development spending continues to reflect our continued commitment to develop and introduce new products
that give the Company a competitive advantage.
Selling, general and administrative expense —Selling, general and administrative expense for the three months ended March 31,
2017 was $12.1 million compared to $11.4 million for the comparable period in 2016, an increase of $0.7 million. The increase was
primarily due to approximate $1.3 million incurred in connection with our participation at the 2017 Con Expo trade show. The Con
Expo show, which is held every three years, was held in Las Vegas in March of this year. This show is an international gathering place
for the construction industries. It is estimated that 130,000 professionals from around the world attended the show. This increase is
offset by decreases in other selling, general, and administrative expenses as a result of the cost cutting program that resulted in savings
of $0.6 million.
Operating (loss) income — The Company had operating loss of $1.5 million compared with income of $2.1 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The adverse change in operating income is the result of decreased revenues of
$17.5 million, along with aggressive sales pricing in effort to move existing finished goods inventory. The sale of finished goods
inventory at less than our normal margins was consistent with our priority of reducing debt.
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Interest expense —Interest expense was $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $2.8 million for the
comparable period in 2016, a decrease of $1.0. The decrease in interest expense is attributed to lower interest on revolving credit lines
and some term debt, and decreases in total debt.
Foreign currency transaction losses —For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, foreign currency losses were $0.1 and
$0.5 million, respectively. As previously stated, the Company attempts to purchase forward currency exchange contracts such that the
exchange gains and losses on the assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the reporting units’ functional currency
will be offset by the changes in the market value of the forward currency exchange contracts it holds. A substantial portion of the 2016
loses relate to a change in the Argentinian peso. The Company has not been able to identify a strategy to effectively hedge the
currency risks related to the Argentinian peso. The Company records at the balance sheet date the forward currency exchange
contracts at their market value with any associated gain or loss being recorded in current earnings as a currency gain or loss.
Other income — For the three months ended March 31, 2017, the Company had other income of $0.2 million. The other income is
the result of revaluing a contingent acquisition liability related to an option to acquire certain PM bank debt.
Income tax — For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 the Company recorded an income tax expense (benefit) of $0.1
and $(0.1) million, respectively. The calculation of the overall income tax provision primarily consists of a foreign tax benefit and an
income tax provision resulting from state and local taxes, and an increase in deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite-lived
intangible assets.
The effective tax rate for three months ended March 31, 2017 was an income tax benefit of 2.8% compared to an income tax provision
of 27.4% in the comparable prior period. The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2017 differs from the U.S.
statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the mix of domestic and foreign earnings, and an income tax provision resulting from the
increase in deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite-lived intangible assets.
Net loss from continuing operations —Net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 was $3.3 million and $1.1
million, respectively. The change in net loss is explained above.
Segment information
Lifting Equipment Segment
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Net revenues
Operating (loss) income (1)
Operating margin
(1)

$

37,468
$
(395 )
-1.1 %

52,096
3,000
5.8%

Segment operating (loss) income does not include an allocation of corporate expenses. See the Reconciliation to the Statements
of Operations below.

Net revenues
Net revenues decreased $14.6 million to $37.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $52.1 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016. All the product lines within the Lifting Equipment segment experienced quarter over quarter revenue
declines. The decline is primarily a result of the low backlog levels that the Company had at the beginning of the year. Orders
increased for almost all product lines, but were exceptionally pronounced for the Manitex straight mast cranes. These orders
significantly increased backlog, but due to the timing of the orders, production was not able to convert these orders into revenues due
in part to the availability of chassis units to mount the cranes.
Operating (loss) income and operating margins
Operating loss of $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was equivalent to 1.1% of net revenue compared to an
operating income of $3.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 or 5.8% of net revenues. The decrease in operating
income is attributed to the lower volumes discussed above.
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ASV Segment
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Net revenues
Operating income
Operating margin

$

28,010
$
1,148
4.1 %

28,468
1,027
3.6%

Net revenues
Net revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2017 were $28.0 million compared to $28.5 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2016. Net revenues of $28.0 million were $0.5 million lower than the first quarter of 2016, with the shortfall in revenues
resulting from a $2.4 million decrease in undercarriages and parts sales partial offset by $1.9 million increase in sales of machines.
Sales of machines improved as ASV branded product continued to expand on a quarter over quarter basis as the company continues to
sign new ASV branded distribution dealers.
Operating income and operating margins
Operating income of $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was equivalent to 4.1% of net revenues compared to
$1.0 million or 3.6% of revenues in the three months ended March 31, 2016. There was an improvement in operating income year
over year by $0.1million.
Equipment Distribution Segment
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Net revenues
Operating (loss) income
Operating margin

$

3,150
$
(442 )
-14.0 %

5,551
154
2.8%

Net revenues
Net revenues decreased $2.4 million to $3.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from $5.6 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2016. The Equipment Distribution segment had significant sales in Q4 2016 as the Company sought to liquidate
used equipment inventory and focus on cash generation and debt reduction. The reduction in sales in Q1 2017 is primarily a result of
lower available inventory levels and timing of sales.
Operating (loss) income and operating margins
Operating loss of $0.4 million was equivalent to 14.0% of net revenue for the three months ending March 31, 2017 compared to
operating income of $0.2 million or 2.8% for the for the three months ended March 31, 2016, respectively. Excluding the benefit from
the commission sale in the first quarter 2016, operating margin would have been the same for the period ending March 31, 2017.
Reconciliation to Statements of Operations:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Revenues:
Lifting Equipment
ASV
Equipment Distribution
Elimination of intersegment sales
Total

$

$
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37,468 $
28,010
3,150
(776 )
67,852 $

52,096
28,468
5,551
(729)
85,386

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2017
2016

Operating (Loss) Income:
Lifting Equipment
ASV
Equipment Distribution
Corporate expenses
Change in intersegment profit in inventory elimination
Total

$

$

(395 ) $
1,148
(442 )
(1,844 )
20
(1,513 ) $

3,000
1,027
154
(2,256)
204
2,129

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash were $3.7 million at March 31, 2017 compared to $6.4 million at December 31, 2016. In
addition, the Company has a U.S. revolving credit facility with maturity date of July 20, 2019. Additionally, ASV has a revolving
credit facility, which is for its sole use, with a maturity date of December 23, 2021. At March 31, 2017 the Company had
approximately $2.7 million available to borrow under its revolving credit facility. At March 31, 2017, ASV had approximately $2.5
million of availability under its revolving credit facility.
At March 31, 2017, the PM Group had established working capital facilities with seven Italian and six South American banks. Under
these facilities, the PM Group can borrow $25.0 million against orders, invoices and letters of credit. At March 31, 2017, the PM
Group had received advances of $21.9 million. Future advances are dependent on having available collateral.
During the three months ended March 31, 2017, total debt increased by $2.6 million to $142.9 million at March 31, 2017 from $140.3
million at December 31, 2016.
The following is a summary of the net increase in our indebtedness from December 31, 2016 to March 31, 2017:
Increase/
(decrease)

Facility

U.S. Revolver
Note payable—bank (insurance premiums)
Note payable—Terex
Capital leases-buildings
Capital leases-equipment
Convertible note—Terex
Convertible note—Perella
ASV Term loan
ASV Revolving Credit Facility
PM (See note 13 for details)
Valla note payable
Valla working capital borrowings

$

$
Debt issuance costs
$
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1.3 million
0.3 million
— million
— million
(0.1 ) million
— million
— million
(0.5 ) million
(1.6 ) million
2.6 million
0.1 million
0.4 million
2.5 million
0.1 million
2.6 million

Outstanding borrowings
The following is a summary of our outstanding borrowings at March 31, 2017:
(In millions)
Outstanding
Balance

U.S Revolver
Note payable bank
(insurance premiums)
Note payable—Terex

$

Interest Rate

21.3
0.3

3.85 to 4.0%
2.75%

1.6

4.50%

Convertible note—Terex
Convertible note—Perella
ASV revolving credit facility
ASV Term loan A

6.9
14.5
14.0
8.5

7.5%
7.5%
3.8%
4.0%

ASV Term loan B

21.0

11.0%

0.4
5.3

5.09%
12.50%

Capital lease—cranes for sale
Capital lease—Georgetown
facility
Capital leases—Winona
facility
PM unsecured borrowings
PM Autogru term loan
PM Autogru term loan
PM term loans with related
accrued interest, interest
rate swaps and FMV
adjustments
PM short-term working
capital borrowings-Italy
PM short-term working
capital borrowings-South
America
Valla note payable
Valla short-term working
capital borrowings

Debt net of issuance costs

Principal Payment

Monthly July 20, 2019 maturity
Monthly $0.04 million monthly
Semi-Annual $0.04 million interest payment June 19,
2017 and $1.64 million interest and
principle payment on December 19, 2017
Semi-Annual December 19, 2019 maturity
Semi-Annual January 7, 2021 maturity
Monthly December 23, 2021 maturity
Monthly $0.20 million quarterly plus interest unpaid
balance due December 23, 2021
Monthly $0.50 million quarterly plus interest unpaid
balance due December 23, 2021
Monthly 60 months
Monthly $0.06 million monthly payment includes
interest
Final Payment To be paid in 2018

0.5

n.a

13.9

2.17%

0.4

3.00%

0.5
12.9

2.50%
0 to 2.62%

20.9

1.42 to 1.67%

Monthly Upon payment of invoice

1.0

8.0 to 17.0%

Monthly Upon payment of invoice

0.1

4.37%

0.4

4.50 to 4.75%

$

144.4
(1.5 )

$

142.9

Debt issuance costs

Interest
Paid

Semi-Annual Variable semi-annual starting June 2017
through December 2021
Monthly $0.09 million monthly through October
2020
Annually $0.5 million payment due June 2017
Semi-Annual Variable semi-annual starting June 2016
through December 2022. Payments
scheduled for 2017 total $3 million

Quarterly Over 14 quarterly payments
Monthly Upon payment of invoice or letter of credit

Future availability under credit facilities
As stated above, the Company had cash of $3.7 million and approximately $2.7 million available to borrow under its credit facility at
March 31, 2017. ASV has a revolving credit facility with approximately $2.5 million of availability which is for its sole use.
The PM Group has their own working capital facilities. As stated above, any future advances against the Italian facilities are
dependent on having available collateral. Additionally, the Company is permitted to make limited advances to the Italian operations if
needed under the Company’s credit facility.
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The Company needs cash to fund normal working capital needs and to make scheduled debt payments as shown in the above table.
The U.S. credit facilities are asset based. The maximum the Company may borrow under either facility is the lower of the credit line
or the available collateral, as defined in the credit agreements. Collateral under the agreements consists of stated percentages of
eligible accounts receivable and inventory.
Under the collateral formulas in the credit facilities accounts receivable collateral is equal to a stated percent of eligible accounts
receivable (generally 85%), while inventory collateral is equal to a stated percent of eligible inventory (generally 50%) and caps total
borrowing against our inventory. If our revenues were to increase significantly in the future, the provision limiting borrowing against
accounts receivable and inventory may result in additional cash constraints. If this were to occur, we would attempt to negotiate higher
inventory caps with our banks. There is, however, no assurance that the banks would agree to increase the caps.
The Company expects cash flows from operations and existing availability under the current revolving credit facilities, nevertheless,
will be adequate to fund future operations. If in the future, we were to determine that additional funding is necessary, we believe that it
would be available. There is, however, no assurance that such financing will be available or, if available, on acceptable terms.
We will likely need to raise additional capital through debt or equity financings to any future acquisitions. There is no assurance that
such financing will be available or, if available, on acceptable terms.
2017
Operating activities consumed $6.9 million of cash for the three months ended March 31, 2017 comprised of net loss of $3.3 million,
non-cash items that totaled $2.6 million and changes in assets and liabilities, which consumed $6.1 million. The principal non-cash
items that generated cash are depreciation and amortization of $2.6 million, share based compensation of $0.2 million and
amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.2 million, a decrease in deferred income taxes of $0.1 million, amortization of debt
discounts of $0.1 million offset by the gains on revaluation of a contingent acquisition liability of $0.3 million and a gain on interest
rate swaps of $0.4 million.
The change in assets and liabilities consumed $6.1 million. The changes in assets and liabilities had the following impact on cash
flows: accounts receivable consumed $2.8 million, inventory generated $3.0 million, prepaid expenses consumed $0.3 million,
accounts payable consumed $4.7 million, accrued expenses consumed $1.9 million, other current liabilities generated $0.6 million,
and other long-term liabilities consumed $0.1 million. The increase in accounts receivable is the result of an increase in sales as
compared to the fourth quarter of 2016. The decrease in inventory is attributed the Company’s focus on improving working capital
including a concerted effort to reduce our inventory. The decrease in accounts payable is attributed to a decrease in inventory and
timing of vendor payments. The decrease in accrued expense is attributed to a number offsetting changes that resulted in a net
decrease in accrued liabilities. Note 10 to the financial statement details change in various accrued liabilities.
Investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 consumed $0.3 million of cash, primarily related to purchase of
equipment.
Financing activities generated $4.4 million in cash for the three months ended March 31, 2017. Cash was generated from increases in
borrowing under Italy’s working capital facilities of $2.8 million, the receipt of proceeds of $2.4 related a stock offering and $0.5
million in new debt (primarily a note to finance insure premiums). The cash generated was partially offset by a decrease in
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities of $0.3 million, notes payments of $0.7 million, the repurchase of $0.1
million of stock from employees to satisfy employees’ tax withhold upon vesting of restricted shares and the payment of $0.1 million
under capital lease obligations. A $0.5 million payment by ASV against its Term Loan B accounts for the majority of notes payments
that occurred in the quarter.
2016
Operating activities consumed $20.6 million of cash for the three months ended March 31, 2016 comprised of net income of $1.3
million, non-cash items that totaled $3.8 million, and changes in assets and liabilities, which consumed $20.3 million. Additionally
discontinued operations consumed $5.4 million of cash in the quarter. The principal non-cash items are depreciation and amortization
of $2.9 million, increases in allowance for doubtful accounts and inventory reserves that together total $0.6 million, share based
compensation of $0.3 million and amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.3 million offset by the gain of $0.4 million on the
mark to market revaluation of interest rate swaps.
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The change in assets and liabilities consumed $20.3 million. The changes in assets and liabilities had the following impact on cash
flows: accounts receivable consumed $19.4 million, inventory generated $0.4 million, prepaid expenses generated $0.8 million,
accounts payable generated $0.1 million, accrued expenses consumed $2.5 million, other current liabilities generated $0.3 million,
and other long-term liabilities consumed $0.1 million. The increase in accounts receivable is the result of an increase in sales and the
fact that a larger portion of first quarter 2016 sales were made towards the end of the quarter. The decrease in inventory is attributed
an increase inventory at PM offset by a slightly larger net decrease in inventory at our other locations. The increase in PM inventory
is attributable to higher sales volumes. The decrease in prepaid expenses is the result of receiving a $1.4 million tax refund during the
first quarter 2016 partially offset by increase in prepaid insurance balance, due to the annual insurance renewal. The decrease in
accrued expenses is attributed a number of changes that resulted in net decrease in accrued expenses of $2.5 million.
Investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2016 generated $4.3 million of cash. The Company received $2.2 million
when the terminal tractor product line was sold and ASV received a $2.5 million capital contributed from the noncontrolling member.
The Company used $0.3 million of cash to purchase machinery and equipment. The proceeds from the sale of the terminal tractor
product line is included in the line entitled “Discontinued operations – cash provided by investing activities”.
Financing activities generated $11.4 million in cash for the three months ended March 31, 2016. Cash was generated by increases in
borrowing under the revolving credit facilities of $5.6 million, and the working capital facilities of $6.4 million and by $4.1 million
from a sales and lease back transaction. Additionally, the Company borrowed $0.7 million to finance a portion of 2016 insurance
premiums. Other financing activities related to continuing operations consumed $7.9 million which is primarily related to debt
repayments (including capital lease obligations). Discontinued operations provided by financing activities totaled $2.5 million.
Related Party Transactions
For a description of the Company’s related party transactions, please see Note 16 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements
entitled “Transactions between the Company and Related Parties.”
Critical Accounting Policies
See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, for a discussion of the Company’s other critical accounting
policies.
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Recently Issued Pronouncements
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 outlines a
new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes
most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new revenue recognition model provides a fivestep analysis in determining when and how revenue is recognized. The new model will require revenue recognition to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a company expects to receive in
exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, “Deferral of the Effective Date”, which
amends ASU 2014-09. As a result, the effective date is the first quarter of 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company is
evaluating the impact that adoption of this guidance will have on the determination or reporting of its financial results.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory,” (“ASU 2015-11”). ASU 2015-11 requires
inventory be measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value and options that currently exist for market value be eliminated. ASU
2015-11 defines net realizable value as estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and
interim periods within those fiscal years with early adoption permitted. ASU 2015-11 should be applied prospectively. The Company
has adopted the guidance for the year ended December 31, 2017 on a prospective basis. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
significant impact on the operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2017.
In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-17 (“ASU 2015-17”), Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes. The amendments in ASU 2015-17 seek to simplify the presentation of deferred
income taxes and require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial
position. The current requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax paying component of an entity be offset and presented
as a single amount is not affected by the amendments in this update. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial statements issued for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, with early application permitted
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for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The guidance can be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively. The Company has adopted the guidance for the year ended December 31, 2016 on a retrospective basis in order to
simplify balance sheet classifications. The main impact of adoption of the standard was the reclassification of current deferred tax
assets that resulted in a reduction in noncurrent deferred tax liabilities.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities." The amendments in ASU 2016-01, among other things, require equity investments (except
those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income; requires public business entities to use the exit price notion when
measuring fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; requires separate presentation of financial assets and financial
liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset (i.e., securities or loans and receivables); and eliminates the
requirement for public business entities to disclose the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value that is
required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year
2018. The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to recognize assets
and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. Consistent
with current U.S. GAAP, the recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee
primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease. The update is effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this update on its
consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-05, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-05”). ASU 2016-05 provides
guidance clarifying that novation of a derivative contract (i.e. a change in counterparty) in a hedge accounting relationship does not, in
and of itself, require designation of that hedge accounting relationship. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017,
with early adoption permitted. Adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-06, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),” (“ASU 2016-06”). ASU 2016-06 simplifies
the embedded derivative analysis for debt instruments containing contingent call or put options by clarifying that an exercise
contingency does not need to be evaluated to determine whether it relates to interest rates and credit risk in an embedded derivative
analysis. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. Adoption did not have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),” (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 further clarifies principal and agent
relationships within ASU 2014-09. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early
adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard
will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718), Improvements to Employee ShareBased Payment Accounting,” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify several aspects of accounting for share-based
payment awards. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, with early adoption permitted. Adoption did not have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing,” (“ASU 2016-10”). The amendments in ASU 2016-10 are expected to reduce the cost and complexity of
applying the guidance on identifying promised goods or services in contracts with customers and to improve the operability and
understandability of licensing implementation guidance related to the entity's intellectual property. Similar to ASU 2014-09, the
effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2017. The
Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and
Cash Payments,” (“ASU 2016-15”). ASU 2016-15 reduces the existing diversity in practice in financial reporting by clarifying
existing principles in ASC 230, “Statement of Cash Flows,” and provides specific guidance on certain cash flow classification
issues. The effective date for ASU 2016-15 will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company
is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
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In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Intra-Entity Transfer of Assets Other than Inventory,”
(“ASU 2016-16”). ASU 2016-16 requires recognition of current and deferred income taxes resulting from an intra-entity transfer of
any asset (excluding inventory) when the transfer occurs. This is a change from existing GAAP which prohibits recognition of current
and deferred income taxes until the asset is sold to a third party. The effective date for ASU 2016-16 will be the first quarter of fiscal
year 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business,”
(“ASU 2017-01”). ASU 2017-01 provides guidance in ascertaining whether a collection of assets and activities is considered a
business. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018, with prospective application. The Company is evaluating the
impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment,” (“ASU 2017-04”). ASU 2017-04 eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Instead, an entity should perform
its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity
should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, if any.
The loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Additionally, an entity should
consider income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit when measuring the
goodwill impairment. The effective date will be the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, with early adoption permitted in 2017. The
Company is evaluating the impact that adoption of this new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
Except as noted above, the guidance issued by the FASB during the current year is not expected to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Private Bank has issued 2 standby letters of credit at March 31, 2017. The first standby letter of credit is $0.625 million in favor of an
insurance carrier to secure obligations which may arise in connection with future deductibles payments that may be incurred under the
Company’s workman compensation insurance policies. The second standby letter of credit is $20 thousand in favor of a governmental
agency to secure obligations which may arise in connection with workman compensation claims.
PNC Bank has issued 3 standby letters of credit at March 31, 2017. The first standby letter of credit is $0.245 million in favor of an
insurance carrier to secure obligations which may arise in connection with future deductibles payments that may be incurred under the
Company’s workman compensation insurance policies. The second and third standby letters of credit were $0.1 million each for
commercial purposes.
Item 3—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
The Company’s market risk disclosures have not materially changed since the 2016 Form 10-K was filed. The Company’s quantitative
and qualitative disclosures about market risk are incorporated by reference from Part II, Item 7A of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Item 4—Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer (principal
executive officer) and the Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer), evaluated the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls
and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) as of
March 31, 2017.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) were effective as of March 31, 2017 to provide reasonable
assurance that (1) information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms,
and (2) information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.
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The effectiveness of any system of controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, and, as a result, there can be no assurance
that our controls and procedures will detect all errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will be attained.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1—Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in various legal proceedings, including product liability and workers’ compensation matters which have
arisen in the normal course of operations. The Company has product liability insurance with self-insurance retention that ranges from
$50 thousand to $0.5 million. ASV product liability cases that existed on date of acquisition have a $4 million self-retention limit. The
Company has a $250 thousand per claim deductible on worker compensation claims and aggregates of $1.0 million, $1.2 million, $1.3
million, $1.9 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million for 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 policy years, respectively. Certain
cases are at a preliminary stage and it is not possible to estimate the amount or timing of any cost to the Company. However, the
Company does not believe that these contingencies, in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company. Reserves
have been established for several liability cases related to the ASV and PM acquisitions. When it is probable that a loss has been
incurred and possible to make a reasonable estimate of the Company’s liability with respect to such matters, a provision is recorded
for the amount of such estimate or the minimum amount of a range of estimates when it is not possible to estimate the amount within
the range that is most likely to occur.
Item 1A—Risk Factors
As of the date of this filing, there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Item 2—Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
The Company’s credit agreement with Private Bank directly restricts the Company’s ability to declare or pay dividends without
Private Bank’s consent. In addition, pursuant to the Company’s credit agreement with Private Bank and other lenders, the Company
must maintain as specified in the agreements certain fixed coverage ratios and debt to EBITDA ratios.
ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Total
Number of
Shares (or
Units)
Purchased

Period

January 1—January 31, 2017
February 1—February 29, 2017
March 1—March 31, 2017

18,062
—
—
18,062

Item 3—Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None
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(b) Average
Price Paid
per Share (or
Unit)

(c) Total
Number of
Shares (or
Units)
Purchased as
Part of
Publically
Announced
Plans or
Programs

(d) Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Dollar Value)
of
Shares (or
Units)
that May Yet
Be
Purchased
Under
the Plans or
Programs

7.13
—
—
7.13

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

$

Item 4—Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5—Other Information
None
Item 6—Exhibits
See the Exhibit Index set forth below for a list of exhibits included with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.1

Controlled Equity OfferingSM Sales Agreement, dated January 23, 2017, by and between Manitex International, Inc. and
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 23, 2017).

10.2*

Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2017, by and among Manitex International, Inc.,
Manitex Inc., Manitex Sabre, Inc., Badger Equipment Company, Crane and Machinery, Inc., Crane and Machinery Leasing,
Inc., and Manitex, LLC, The Private Bank and Trust Company and the lenders party thereto.

31.1*

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101*

The following financial information from Manitex International, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2017, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Statements of Income for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016 (ii) Statement of Comprehensive Income for three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016 (ii) Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, (iii) Statements of Cash Flows for the three
months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, and (iv) Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements.

*

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
May 4, 2017
By:

/S/ DAVID J. LANGEVIN
David J. Langevin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/S/ DAVID H. GRANSEE
David H. Gransee
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

May 4, 2017
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Exhibit 10.2
FIFTH AMENDMENT
TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this
“Amendment”) entered into as of this 26th day of April, 2017 is by and among MANITEX
INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Michigan corporation (“Manitex International”), MANITEX, INC.,
a Texas corporation (“Manitex”), MANITEX SABRE, INC., a Michigan corporation (“Sabre”),
BADGER EQUIPMENT COMPANY, a Minnesota corporation (“Badger”), CRANE AND
MACHINERY, INC., an Illinois corporation (“Crane and Machinery”), CRANE AND
MACHINERY LEASING, INC., an Illinois corporation (“Crane and Machinery Leasing”), and
MANITEX, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Manitex LLC”; together with Manitex
International, Manitex, Sabre, Badger, Crane and Machinery, and Crane and Machinery Leasing,
collectively, the “Borrowers”), THE PRIVATEBANK AND TRUST COMPANY (in its
individual capacity, “PrivateBank”), as administrative agent and sole lead arranger (in such
capacity, “Administrative Agent”), and the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, Administrative Agent, Lenders, and Borrowers are party to that certain Loan
and Security Agreement dated as of July 20, 2016, as amended by that certain First Amendment
to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 4, 2016, that certain Consent and Second
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of September 30, 2016, that certain Third
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of November 8, 2016 and that certain
Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of February 10, 2017 (as amended
hereby and as the same may be from time to time further amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified, the “Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, Administrative Agent, Lenders and Borrowers desire to enter into this
Amendment to, among other items, (i) amend certain reserve dates, and (ii) otherwise amend the
Agreement in accordance with the terms herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and mutual agreements
herein contained and for the purposes of setting forth the terms and conditions of this
Amendment, the parties, intending to be bound, hereby agree as follows:
1.
Incorporation of the Agreement. All capitalized terms which are not defined
hereunder shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Agreement, and the Agreement, to the
extent not inconsistent with this Amendment, is incorporated herein by this reference as though
the same were set forth in its entirety. To the extent any terms and provisions of the Agreement
are inconsistent with the amendments set forth in Section 2 below, such terms and provisions
shall be deemed superseded hereby. Except as specifically set forth herein, the Agreement shall
remain in full force and effect and its provisions shall be binding on the parties hereto.

2.

Amendment of the Agreement.

(a)
The definition of the term “US Revolving Loan Availability” appearing in
Section 1.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:
US Revolving Loan Availability shall mean with respect to
Borrowers an amount up to the lesser of the sum of the following
sublimits: (i) up to eighty-five percent (85%) of the face amount
(less maximum discounts, credits and allowances which may be
taken by or granted to Account Debtors in connection therewith in
the ordinary course of Borrowers’ business) of US Borrowers’
Eligible US Accounts (it being understood and agreed that such
advance rate shall be reduced by one (1) percentage point for each
whole or partial percentage point by which Dilution (as determined
by Administrative Agent in good faith based on the results of the
most recent twelve (12) month period for which Administrative
Agent has conducted a field audit of Borrowers) exceeds five
percent (5%)), plus (ii) up to fifty percent (50%) of the lower of
cost or market value of US Borrowers’ Eligible US Inventory and
Eligible Chassis Inventory up to a maximum aggregate amount of
Seventeen Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($17,500,000),
plus (iii) up to eighty percent (80%) of the lower of cost or market
value of US Borrowers’ Used Equipment Purchased for Resale or
Rent up to a maximum aggregate amount of Two Million
Dollars ($2,000,000), plus (iv) lesser of (x) eighty-five percent
(85%) of Eligible Bill and Hold Receivables of the US Borrowers
and (y) $10,000,000, plus (v) fifty percent (50%) of Eligible
Mexico Receivables, provided, however, that the amount of such
Eligible Mexico Receivables shall not exceed $400,000 in the
aggregate at any time, minus (vi) such reserves as Administrative
Agent elects, in its Permitted Discretion, determined in good faith,
to establish from time to time, including, without limitation, (x)
reserves with respect to Bank Products Obligations and Hedging
Obligations and (y) reserves in the amount of (a) $1,500,000 to be
in effect on May 1, 2017 and (b) an additional $3,500,000 to be in
effect on June 1, 2017, with each of the reserves in this clause (y)
to be in effect until the Borrowers report Fixed Charge Coverage
of 1.10:1.0 or better as measured on September 30, 2017 or at any
quarter ended thereafter.
3.
Delivery of Documents. The following documents and other items shall be
delivered concurrently with this Amendment:
(i)

this Amendment; and

(ii)
such other documents and certificates as Administrative Agent shall
reasonably request.
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4.
Representations, Covenants and Warranties; No Default. Borrowers hereby
represent and warrant to Administrative Agent as of the date hereof as follows:
(a)
The execution and delivery of this Amendment and the performance by
Borrowers of their obligations hereunder are within Borrowers’ powers and authority, have been
duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and do not and will not contravene or conflict
with the organizational documents of Borrowers;
(b)
The Agreement (as amended by this Amendment) and the other Loan Documents
constitute legal, valid and binding obligations enforceable in accordance with their terms by
Administrative Agent against Borrowers, and Borrowers expressly reaffirm and confirm each of
their obligations under the Agreement (as amended by this Amendment) and each of the other
Loan Documents. Borrowers further expressly acknowledge and agree that Administrative
Agent has a valid, duly perfected, first priority and fully enforceable security interest in and lien
against each item of Collateral except as otherwise set forth in the Agreement. Borrowers agree
that they shall not dispute the validity or enforceability of the Agreement (as it was stated before
and after this Amendment) or any of the other Loan Documents or any of its respective
obligations thereunder, or the validity, priority, enforceability or extent of Administrative
Agent’s security interest in or lien against any item of Collateral, in any judicial, administrative
or other proceeding;
(c)
No consent, order, qualification, validation, license, approval or authorization of,
or filing, recording, registration or declaration with, or other action in respect of, any
governmental body, authority, bureau or agency or other Person is required in connection with
the execution, delivery or performance of, or the legality, validity, binding effect or
enforceability of, this Amendment;
(d)
The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment by Borrowers does
not and will not violate any law, governmental regulation, judgment, order or decree applicable
to Borrowers and does not and will not violate the provisions of, or constitute a default or any
event of default under, or result in the creation of any security interest or lien upon any property
of Borrowers pursuant to, any indenture, mortgage, instrument, contract, agreement or other
undertaking to which any Borrower is a party or is subject or by which any Borrower or any of
its real or personal property may be bound; and
(e)
The representations, covenants and warranties set forth in Section 11 of the
Agreement shall be deemed remade as of the date hereof by Borrowers, except that any and all
references to the Agreement in such representations and warranties shall be deemed to include
this Amendment. No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and no event has occurred
and is continuing which, with the lapse of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute
such an Event of Default under the Agreement.
5.
Fees and Expenses. The Borrowers agree to pay on demand all costs and
expenses of or incurred by Administrative Agent, including, but not limited to, legal fees and
expenses, in connection with the evaluation, negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of
this Amendment.
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6.
Effectuation.
The amendments to the Agreement contemplated by this
Amendment shall be deemed effective immediately upon the full execution of this Amendment
and without any further action required by the parties hereto. There are no conditions precedent
or subsequent to the effectiveness of this Amendment.
7.
Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the
same instrument. A facsimile or other electronic signature to this Amendment shall be deemed
an original signature hereunder.
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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(Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement)
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Fifth Amendment
to Loan and Security Agreement as of the date first above written.
BORROWERS:

MANITEX INTERNATIONAL, INC., a
Michigan corporation
MANITEX, INC., a Texas corporation
MANITEX SABRE, INC., a Michigan
corporation
BADGER EQUIPMENT COMPANY, a
Minnesota corporation
CRANE AND MACHINERY, INC., an
Illinois corporation
CRANE AND MACHINERY
LEASING, INC., an Illinois corporation
MANITEX, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company
By: /s/ DAVID H. GRANSEE
Name:David H. Gransee
Title: Vice President or Secretary

(Signature Page to Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement)

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:

THE PRIVATEBANK AND TRUST
COMPANY, as Administrative Agent and
a Lender
By: /s/TODD BERNIER
Todd Bernier, Managing Director

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David J. Langevin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Manitex International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: May 4, 2017

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David J. Langevin
David J. Langevin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer of Manitex
International, Inc.)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David H. Gransee, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Manitex International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: May 4, 2017

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David H. Gransee
David H. Gransee
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of Manitex
International, Inc.)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Solely for the purpose of complying with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we,
the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Manitex International, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify
that, to the best of our knowledge, the Quarterly Report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ David J. Langevin
David J. Langevin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer of Manitex
International, Inc.)

Dated: May 4, 2017
By:
/s/ David H. Gransee
Name:
David H. Gransee
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer of Manitex International, Inc.)
Dated: May 4, 2017

